

Gender equality and women's empowerment in co-operatives

A literature review



Gender equality and women's empowerment in co-operatives A literature review

Authors

Fiona Duguid

Fiona is an independent consultant specialising in research on co-operatives. She has conducted numerous projects investigating co-operatives and sustainability, women, new development opportunities and economic, social and environmental impact. She completed her PhD from University of Toronto and is an instructor with the Co-operative Masters Program at Saint Mary's University in Canada. She is the president of the Canadian Association for the Studies in Co-operation.

Nadya Weber

Nadya is a consultant who has worked on projects focused on co-operatives and women, participatory democratic practices, newcomer and refugee women and youth, and political theatre. Nadya received a PhD in Adult Education and Community Development with a specialisation in comparative international and development education from the University of Toronto.

This research received financial support from the Committee for the Promotion and Advancement of Cooperatives (COPAC).

Published in 2016 by the International Co-operative Alliance

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	5
BACKGROUND	7
Phase I	8
Key terms	9
METHODOLOGY	11
Limitations of the study	13
Scope of the literature	14
Emerging trends from the literature review	17
Are co-operatives a good organisational structure for encouraging and supporting g equality and women's empowerment? The emergence of women's co-operatives and women and co-operatives as two diffuorics	17
Challenges related to gender equality and women's empowerment in co-operation	atives 23
Women's economic rights and access Women's social, cultural, and legal rights Women's organisational participation Research needs	23 25 27 28
Strengths, gaps, and opportunities	31
Strengths Gaps or weaknesses Opportunities	31 31 32
SECTORAL ANALYSIS	34
Women and agricultural co-operatives	34
Economic rights and access to finance Social, cultural, and legal rights Organisational participation and leadership	35 35 35

Women in agricultural co-operatives case studies	37
Women and financial co-operatives	39
Social, cultural, and legal rights Organisational participation and leadership Women in financial co-operatives case studies	39 39 40
Women and consumer co-operatives	42
Economic rights and access to finance Social, cultural, and legal rights Organisational participation and leadership Women in consumer co-operatives case studies	42 43 44 44
Summary of and findings from the sectoral analysis	47
PRACTICAL PUBLICATIONS	49
Summary of and findings from the survey of practical publications	51
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND ACTION ORIENTED RECOMMENDATIONS	EO
SOMMARY OF FINDINGS AND ACTION ORIENTED RECOMMENDATIONS	53
Policy and legislation	53
Policy and legislation	53
Policy and legislation Operations	53 54
Policy and legislation Operations Women's capacities	53 54 54
Policy and legislation Operations Women's capacities Research needs	53 54 54 56
Policy and legislation Operations Women's capacities Research needs BIBLIOGRAPHY	53 54 54 56 59
Policy and legislation Operations Women's capacities Research needs BIBLIOGRAPHY APPENDIX A	53 54 54 56 59 79

Introduction

The gender gap in labour force participation persists in every part of the world. In developing contexts, women spend two and half times more hours on unpaid labour than men, and their work is most likely to be informal and unprotected (UN Women, 2015). Strengthening women's ability to participate in the labour force is seen as a means to challenge global poverty and issues of regional economic sustainability (OECD DAC, 2012). The urgency in addressing this area of gender inequality cannot be understated. The ability of co-operatives to contribute to closing this global gender gap deserves increased attention. There is a need to better understand how co-operative enterprises (could) meet women's needs as users, members, and workers. This research is foundational in championing the need for greater investment in co-operative enterprises as a means of meeting the gender equality and women's empowerment goals laid out in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and to ensure the integration of women's empowerment and gender equality considerations in co-operatives.

Almost 20 years have passed since the fourth World Conference on Women in 1995 in Beijing, during which governments adopted a global platform for action on gender equality and women's empowerment. The on-going discussions on the need to advance on gender equality and women's empowerment targets have led to the UN Assembly adopting these priorities as cross-cutting throughout the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development in September 2015 and specifically, Sustainable Development Goal 5 to achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls. This adoption of gender equality and women's empowerment priorities signals the global recognition that improving the lives of women and girls are both important development goals in themselves and key to the success of all the other goals to achieve sustainable development.

Based upon values such as self-help, equality, and equity, and principles of voluntary and open membership and democratic member control, co-operative enterprises are placed in a unique position to ensure and promote gender equality and women's empowerment and to contribute to the achievement of the goals and targets laid out in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.

The overarching goal of this research is to discuss the connections between cooperatives and gender equality and women's empowerment in the context of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. This practical and action-oriented research seeks to:

- Assess the contributions of co-operatives to gender equality and women's empowerment, with a particular focus on the agricultural, financial, and consumer sectors;
- Highlight the contributions of co-operatives to gender equality and women's empowerment in the context of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable

Development and specifically Goal 5 to achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls; and

 Identify ways in which co-operatives can further contribute to gender equality and women's empowerment with concrete action-oriented recommendations.

The first section of this report provides the background for the study including a review of the Phase I research findings, defines the key terms used in the report, and outlines the methodology and limitations. The next section reviews the literature, from online organisational and academic sources, on co-operatives and women in relation to gender equality and women's empowerment. Building on the themes from the literature review, the following section, a sectoral analysis, looks at data on women's empowerment and gender equality in three overarching co-operative sectors (agriculture, finance, and consumer). A review of practical publications on women's empowerment and gender equality in the form of training guides and / or manuals highlights the current training resources in circulation. Finally, the literature review findings are captured into action-oriented recommendations.

Background

Despite women's empowerment and gender equality being a fixture on the development agenda since the mid-1970s with the introduction of Women in Development (WID)¹, gender statistics from the United Nations and the World Economic Forum tell us that there is still a lot of work to be done before women will begin to have equal footing with their male peers in the labour market. According to UN Women's recent statistics on the progress of the world's women, only 50 per cent of women, compared to 77 per cent of men, are employed and of those employed women, they receive 10 to 30 per cent less in wages than their male counterparts (UN Women, 2015). Women also face occupational segregation, both by being over-represented in services, housework, and agricultural work and by encountering the "glass ceiling" - in which men and women have the same occupation, but men enjoy more responsibilities, better pay, and higher status regardless of skills or experience (ILO, 2012b). In rural areas, especially in developing countries, women comprise approximately 43 per cent of the agricultural labour force, and are considered to be just as efficient farmers as men, but women have typically lower production output due to barriers in accessing information, resources, labour, and financial support (FAO, 2011). Women are also more likely to: be shift workers, undertake unpaid domestic work, contribute unpaid "care" work, and serve as family workers, especially in agriculture. Women also have less access to education, have less mobility, have less access to financial institutions, and are viewed as dependents (ILO, 2012b). The gender gaps in all these areas are even wider in North Africa, the Middle East, South Asia, and Sub-Saharan Africa (World Economic Forum, 2014).

Worldwide there are also over 140 regions that have legislation that impedes women's participation in the workforce (UN Women, 2015). The World Economic Forum's Global Gender Gap Report, which looks at economic participation, educational attainment, health and survival, and political empowerment, found that none of the 200 countries studied had closed the gender gap. At one end of the spectrum, the Nordic countries had closed over 80 per cent of it and at the other end, Yemen had only reached just over 50 per cent (World Economic Forum, 2014).

Effectively addressing the global gender equality gap entails engaging in strategies that will provide support for women's economic participation in conjunction with educational attainment, political participation, and opportunities for social mobility, and inclusion of women's voices and representation within all levels of society. The co-operative structure based on such values as equity, equality, democracy, fairness, and solidarity are necessary foundations for

¹ Women in Development (WID) emerged in the 1970s as one of the first calls for issues pertaining to women in developing contexts to be addressed and emphasised in international development programming.

achieving gender equality. With millions of co-operatives all around the globe, there is great potential for co-operatives to implement and uphold policies and practices that assist in closing the global gender gap. However, data collected on women and co-operatives and women-run co-operatives is patchy at best (Rawlings and Shaw, 2016). A broader survey of co-operatives around the world is necessary to get a baseline indication of how well co-operatives are supporting gender equality and what steps can be taken to improve upon existing practices and policies.

Phase I

This study, Phase II of Co-operatives and Women's Empowerment, builds on the findings and primary data from the ILO Phase I report, Advancing Gender Equality: The Co-operative Way, a joint initiative of the ILO Co-operatives Unit (COOP) and its Gender, Equality, and Diversity Branch (GED), and the International Co-operative Alliance (Alliance) (ILO, 2015). In 2015, Phase I surveyed nearly 600 co-operative members to ascertain the impact of cooperatives on gender equality through access to employment, improved working conditions, and social benefits (Schincariol McMurtry and McMurtry, 2015). The findings of this initial research indicated that respondents (75 per cent) felt that women's participation in co-operatives has increased over the last 20 years. The study also indicated that access to employment is being indirectly facilitated by co-operatives in fields such as housing, healthcare, childcare, and eldercare, which provide women with affordable and accessible services that enable them to work, thus eliminating impediments to accessing the labour market and providing employment opportunities. The data gathered suggested that there is growing attention to gender issues, movements of women into leadership roles, and increasing development of women-owned co-operatives. At the same time results posited that socio-cultural and policy issues were some of the most significant barriers for co-operatives in regards to gender equality and that cooperatives needed to increase their efforts to: put women in leadership roles; develop internal policies and practices for gender equality; and cooperate with other co-operatives, non-state actors including civil society organisations, the private sector, the research community, and government institutions on the issue. Phase II of the study looks across the literature to identify how co-operatives globally are addressing the issues raised in Phase I of the study (ILO, 2015).

Phase I: Research findings

In a survey conducted in 2015, 75 per cent of respondents noted that women's participation in co-operatives has increased over the past 20 years. Additionally, access to employment is being indirectly facilitated by co-operatives in fields such as housing, healthcare, childcare, and eldercare, which provide women with affordable and accessible services that allow them to work. Data gathered from the respondents also revealed that there seemed to be growing attention to gender issues, movement of women into leadership roles, and the increasing development of womenowned co-operatives.

Overall the respondents indicated that:

- 1. Co-operatives have an increasingly positive impact on women's economic and social empowerment, enabling women's inclusion in the labour force and formal economy;
- 2. Co-operatives can enhance their ability to empower women by collaborating with civil society and gaining a voice in policy-making processes;
- 3. Co-operatives can continue to develop policies that support women from within.

Adapted from: http://www.ilo.org/empent/units/co-operatives/WCMS_379095/lang--en/index.htm

Key terms

This study is looking primarily at businesses that are structured as co-operatives and uses the International Co-operative Alliance's (Alliance) definition of the term co-operative as a frame of reference:

"A co-operative is an autonomous association of persons united voluntarily to meet their common economic, social, and cultural needs and aspirations through a jointly owned and democratically-controlled enterprise. Co-operatives are based on the values of self-help, self-responsibility, democracy, equality, equity and solidarity. In the tradition of their founders, co-operative members believe in the ethical values of honesty, openness, social responsibility and caring for others. The co-operative principles are guidelines by which co-operatives put their values into practice" (Alliance, 2015b).

Within the study, the terms gender equality and women's empowerment are used to describe practices, policies, and other enabling factors that increase women's ability to access and benefit from employment (Kabeer, 1999a). The term gender equality refers to an ideal state in which women are receiving and gaining access to the same benefits (stable employment,

The seven Co-operative Principles are:

- 1. Voluntary and open membership
- 2. Democratic member control
- 3. Member economic participation
- 4. Autonomy and independence
- 5. Education, training, and information
- 6. Co-operation among co-operatives
- 7. Concern for community

income, safe working conditions, leadership roles, and social mobility) as men (Kabeer, 2005). It is important to note that while most of the literature takes a more dichotomous approach to gender definition, the Alliance published Guidance Notes on the Co-operative Principles, which present a more fluid understanding of gender identity and how gender as a normative framework impacts women and people who identify within the lesbian, gay, bisexual, questioning. asexual. allies spectrum². transgender. queer. Women's empowerment refers to a resulting condition in which women gain skills, knowledge, confidence, resources, and other means to increase their agency and potential to live healthy, independent lives, and decrease their vulnerability to structural inequities (Ibid).

noted in the Guidance Notes on the Co-operative Principles (Alliance, 2015).

² "In this 21st century the binary concept of sex and gender as singularly male or female is no longer sufficient to reflect the gender realities of all people. Gender is not just about men and women. It is about how people identify themselves and includes people who are transgender or have chosen gender reassignment. The 1st Principle of non-discrimination on grounds of gender extends to all persons" as

Methodology

The Phase II research as reflected in this report includes a literature review, sectoral analyses, conclusions, action-oriented recommendations, and a table of practical publications produced by or for co-operatives on gender equality and women's empowerment.

The data collected for the study was assessed against a conceptual framework based on the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, formerly the Post-2015 Development Agenda negotiations. The 2030 Agenda, adopted by the UN on September 27, 2015, includes Goal 5 (Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls) as a discrete goal, and has woven targets for the improvement of the lives of women and girls throughout the Sustainable Development Goals.

Realizing gender equality and the empowerment of women and girls will make a crucial contribution to progress across all the Goals and targets. The achievement of full human potential and of sustainable development is not possible if one half of humanity continues to be denied its full human rights and opportunities. Women and girls must enjoy equal access to quality education, economic resources and political participation as well as equal opportunities with men and boys for employment, leadership and decision-making at all levels. We will work for a significant increase in investments to close the gender gap and strengthen support for institutions in relation to gender equality and the empowerment of women at the global, regional and national levels. All forms of discrimination and violence against women and girls will be eliminated, including through the engagement of men and boys. The systematic mainstreaming of a gender perspective in the implementation of the Agenda is crucial (United Nations General Assembly, 2015).

The findings were reviewed in terms of how co-operatives have supported women in gaining access to economic resources and quality education, increasing women's political participation, and their role in providing equal opportunities for women and girls to access employment, leadership, and decision-making at all levels. The study looked at secondary data that provided insight into how co-operatives have supported women's empowerment across arenas, including the co-operative itself, the household, the community, and within broader arenas that include state and federal levels of engagement. Within these arenas, the following have all been considered:

- women's empowerment and equality in terms of economic rights and access (e.g., control over own income, ownership of land);
- social and cultural rights (e.g., access to education and freedom of movement);
- legal rights (e.g., knowledge of legal rights);

- political participation (e.g., from knowledge of system, to access, to participation as voter and as political representative, or participation in policy making processes by reflecting their views); and
- psychological well-being (e.g., self-esteem, self-efficacy, awareness of injustices, and ability to mobilise to support women collectively) (Malhotra and Schuler, 2005).

The collection of relevant literature was accomplished through a comprehensive search using search engines to gather documents from co-operative academics and practitioners. The literature includes scholarly journal articles, technical reports, and newsletters from co-operatives and institutions such as the ILO, as well as case studies and other online materials from reputable sources written by researchers, practitioners, and co-operators. The scope of the literature review sectoral analysis global and international and is drawing resources/documentation from institutional, academic, and organisational settings.

International Co-operative Alliance (Alliance) member sites were searched for research publications, newsletters, and manuals relating to gender equality and women's empowerment. The data was primarily derived from English sources; however, resources from French and Spanish language sources were also reviewed, as well as sources from other language groups (e.g., Danish, Swedish, Chinese, among others) to ensure a greater breadth of data.

Where possible, the researchers provided descriptive reporting on indicators based on disaggregated data, such as the percentage of women among founders, members, workers, and leaders. Through the research, other indicators that helped to describe how equality and empowerment for women are enabled through co-operatives emerged and were reported on. The case studies in the sectoral analysis help to build a picture of how gender equality is being addressed within co-operatives as well as how women's empowerment is being supported through women's co-operatives. The examples highlighted were found through the literature review and sectoral analysis searches. Key findings in the literature, the sectoral analysis, and the practical publications analysis provided the basis for the action-oriented recommendations.³

were used in NVivo, a computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software program, to sort, categorise,

³ The researchers accessed the following databases: EBSCO, Project Muse, ProQuest, JSTOR, and

and group the literature.

Scopus from University of Toronto and Saint Mary's University (Halifax, Canada) libraries to source material for the literature review and sectoral analysis. These were especially helpful for locating documents for the literature review, and were a source for some compendium materials. The researchers employed an iterative approach to analysis in order to identify themes, patterns, and trends emerging from the literature review and the sectoral analysis. These patterns and trends evolved into an emergent coding system using keywords derived from some of the seminal pieces of literature. These keywords

Limitations of the study

Due to the scope of the study, the researchers were only able to access literature available in online formats and through institutional databases. This literature review is primarily from English language documents. The researchers included some French and Spanish literature where possible. Other potentially useful documents in languages other than English, French, or Spanish may have been inaccessible due to language and/or translation constraints. It is also beyond the scope of this research study to compare co-operative enterprise literature on gender equality and women's empowerment to other organisational structure literature on gender equality and women's empowerment. This literature review only looked at publications that identified the organisations or enterprises as co-operatives; other types of organisations that may behave like co-operatives but did not refer to themselves as co-operatives were beyond the scope of this study.

The analysis of the types of practical publications that co-operatives are producing and using to train members and leaders on issues related to women's empowerment and gender equality was completed via the creation of a matrix. The practical publications (manuals, guidebooks, and other documents on women's empowerment and gender equality) were also collected via the university databases, but the researchers found that the primary source of these documents was through web-based searches of organisational and institutional websites. The table, created in a Microsoft Excel spread sheet program, included basic information about the practical publications (e.g., creator, year, institution, place, and description) along with variables that address key themes from the literature (e.g., motivation for addressing gender equality, goals, audience, purpose, and objectives).

The researchers' approach was to use an emergent framework to code the documents. Informed by the research objectives and the initial collection of documents, a set of words and phrases were created and added through a process of reading and coding the literature and documents. NVivo supported this through tagging or coding for these words or phrases. Two of the overarching categories for coding were women's empowerment and women's co-operatives. Each of these broad categories were further broken down into two areas: statistical indicators (e.g., employment and education statistics) and qualitative and narrative descriptions that provided contextual information on less tangible notions, such as job satisfaction, self-esteem, and efficacy.

Over 200 documents were collected and pre-sorted in Zotero, an online reference storage software program that housed the references and provided links to all online documents. Within a shared Zotero folder, the researchers created a tagging system to begin the process of high-level analysis and general categorising of documents. Zotero also helped the researchers to avoid duplication, to reach saturation, and with categorisation to begin the iterative approach to analysis.

A literature review: Gender equality and women's empowerment

This section focuses on a review of the literature that discusses the relationship between co-operatives and gender equality and/or women's empowerment. The goals of this section are: 1) to present the scope of literature related to co-operatives, gender equality, and women's empowerment; 2) to highlight the themes that emerge; and 3) to discuss strengths, gaps, and opportunities that emerge from the body of literature as a whole.

It is important to note that women around the world experience gender-based constraints differently depending on the specificities of their contexts and that this is reflected in the research studies that were found. Discussed in this section are examples from all points of the globe. It is not the intention to conflate women's individual experiences into one universal experience, nor to claim a universality of experiences in a country or a co-operative. Women's empowerment and gender equality are reflected differently for each co-operative and this is captured in the literature and research conducted. The following are issues and themes that emerged time and again across the literature.

Scope of the literature

The volume of literature available on women and co-operatives focussing on the concepts of gender equality and women's empowerment is scant despite the number of scholarly articles and organisational documents on co-operatives. The largest section of the literature on co-operatives and gender equality and/or women's empowerment tends to be found in the form of case studies on womenonly or women's co-operatives; much less of the literature focuses on women's contributions in mixed co-operatives. In a recent literature review, Rawlings and Shaw point out that there is little empirical research investigating women and cooperatives, and in particular, women in leadership (2016). This is also a conclusion of this literature review. As will be presented, there are gaps in the collective understanding of women and co-operatives, as well as in the extent and nature of the research needed to better support gender equality and women's empowerment through co-operatives. However, despite the lack of volume, breadth, and depth of research on women and co-operatives, the body of literature that does exist gives us a better understanding of the context for women and co-operatives globally. The following describes what the literature on women and co-operatives looks like as a whole.

There is a divide within the literature between academic articles and organisational The academic articles documents. published within anthropology, development, sociology, and business journals. scholars can publish their research on women and co-operatives in such a wide array of disciplines speaks to the diverse nature of co-operatives' activities. organisational documents are mostly found on the websites of international organisations such as the ILO, CoopAfrica (an ILO technical cooperation program), FAO, UN Women, and the Alliance, as well as on other

"...there are gaps in the collective understanding of women and co-operatives, as well as in the extent and nature of the research needed to better support gender equality and women's empowerment through co-operatives."

websites belonging to international foundations supporting women, co-operatives and/or employment and labour practices. That these organisations are researching and publishing on the relationship between women and co-operatives reflects both the determination to understand more about the lived realities of women involved with co-operatives and an intention to inform policy and action that will increase opportunities for women in the co-operative sector. Of the 200 publications in Zotero, approximately 65 were selected based on relevance, specifically their direct connection with the subjects. These have become the core publications that were coded through NVivo for detailed scrutiny using the lens of gender equality and empowerment. It is from these 65 publications that the following data has been extracted.

"That scholars can publish their research on women and cooperatives in such a wide array of disciplines speaks to the diverse nature of co-operatives' activities." From the body of literature, as a whole, the types of publications include journal articles, organisational reports, policies, and case studies, with the most frequently encountered publications being case studies (Babalola, Bajimi and Isitor, 2015; Burchi and Vicari, 2014; Clugston, 2014; Gebremichael, 2014; Peterson, 2014; Ruppel, 2013 Bonnan-White et al, 2013; Russell-DuVarney, 2013; Tesfay and Tedele, 2013; Datta and Gailey, 2012;

Ganem-Cuenca, 2011; Ramnarain, 2011; Stephen, 2005). Case studies refer to publications addressing one co-operative, a co-operative sector, or a region with a number of co-operatives. Examples of some of the types of co-operatives within the case studies sourced include: women's fishing co-operatives; co-operatives for midwives and domestic workers; co-operatives that produce honey, textiles, fair trade coffee, and sugar; and multipurpose women's co-operatives. Almost all publications have recommendations included in their conclusions. These recommendations often have a policy focus, typically towards internal co-operative policy or government policy.

In terms of sectors and their support for women's empowerment and gender equality, this literature review found agriculture to be the most researched sector,

followed by the financial and social sectors. Regarding types of co-operatives, many publications describe what are ultimately worker co-operative(s) (e.g. Sobering et al, 2014), but for unknown reasons, do not explicitly use the term worker co-operative. Additionally, agricultural co-operatives are not always labelled as producer co-operatives and are often not legally registered as co-operatives. Instead, they are incorporated as associations, federations, or unions. There are many publications that discuss the co-operative model and the overall sector generally, specifically, and all together, but there is a scarcity of data on the labour and employment dimensions of co-operatives in general and on the gender differences in particular. While many publications focus on the agricultural sector, there are even more publications focussing on rural as opposed to urban spaces. There is also growing attention to the peri-urban and suburban areas where co-operatives have been formed.

Only a few publications have carried out comparison studies between the cooperative organisational structure and another co-operative or other organisational structures (e.g., investor-owned company, public sector, trade unions, or non-profit organisations). For example, in Esim and Omeira's article on rural women and co-operatives in the Arab States, they discuss the different roles and comparative advantages of trade unions and co-operatives in a range of sectors (Esim and Omeira, 2009, p 21). A key recommendation emerging from Esim and Omeira's study was that the workers in the informal or rural economies should have their choice of the most suitable form rather than having one form imposed upon them. Their choices will depend on what is most viable, costeffective, and suitable in their legal, institutional, and cultural context, but also within the specificities of their priority needs (Ibid). Comparative research between co-operatives can help to gain an understanding of possible strategies for overcoming challenges, and comparative research between organisational structures can help to gain an understanding of best practices on how the cooperative structure can make a difference for women's empowerment and gender equality. In terms of the body of literature, there is a lack of research on comparing co-operative enterprises to other organisational structures more generally, and specifically in regards to comparisons focusing on how they support women's empowerment and gender equality.

The countries that are represented in the literature are predominantly less developed⁴ nations. Most of the case studies are on co-operatives, gender equality, and women's empowerment in developing and emerging nations in Latin America (e.g. Nicaragua, Brazil, Guatemala, Paraguay, and Mexico), Africa (e.g. Zambia, Uganda, Nigeria, Ethiopia, Morocco, and Kenya), and Asia (e.g. Nepal, Indonesia, Philippines, occupied Palestinian territory, Kuwait, Lebanon, and India) as well as Turkey. There are some publications representing research done in developed nations including USA, UK, Norway, France, Spain, Italy, and Canada, but fewer than those focussing on developing nations. As will be discussed, these North American and European case studies generally focus on

_

⁴ The level of development in a nation refers to levels of education, life expectancy, and income.

leadership, careers, and work/family balance, differing from the case studies from developing nations that focus on access to employment, employment conditions, and gender relations. There are also a few publications that discuss women and co-operatives or women's co-operatives in general without a specific country focus.

Overall there is an emphasis on international development in the publications, elaborating on fair trade opportunities, issues around international funding and donor relations, and discussions about working with conflicting motivations, or the goals of local co-operative women and/or versus those of funding agencies (Momsen, 2012). As one article states, "it is critical to recognize how local conditions and the inherent diversity among women affect implementation of development projects" (White, 2013, p 344). Publications of this nature ask the question, how can international development agencies and bodies best support gender equality and women's empowerment leveraging co-operatives? Sometimes the authors are asking this question from a critical angle problematising international development practices. Other authors are merely looking to answer this question. For example, according to Dilley, in her research looking at fair trade coffee co-operatives in Nicaragua, "Fair Trade can make an impact on women and it must be analyzed through a gendered lens" (2012, p 89).

Emerging trends from the literature review

This section of the literature review explores the significant trends that emerged from reviewing the academic and organisational publications. The first trend considers whether co-operatives are and can be a good organisational structure for encouraging and supporting gender equality and women's empowerment. The second trend is the emergence of literature on women and co-operatives and on women's co-operatives. The third trend reflects the challenges in pursuing gender equality and women's empowerment within and through co-operatives. The challenges have been sorted using clusters that have emerged – policy, operations, women's capacity, and research needs. The fourth and final trend is leadership of women in co-operatives.

Are co-operatives a good organisational structure for encouraging and supporting gender equality and women's empowerment?

As discussed above, there are real examples through case studies of women's empowerment and gender equality being tackled through co-operatives. However, overwhelmingly, there is a perception that co-operatives should achieve gender equality and women's empowerment purely because of the co-operative principles or because it is a belief held about co-operatives or by the co-operative founder-members. The following is a quote from a leaflet that embodies this notion. This quote could have been pulled from any number of different publications.

"Due to the values, including equality and equity, solidarity, social responsibility, and caring for others, upon which they are based and principles that they embody – voluntary and open membership, democratic member control, member economic participation, member education, and concern for the community - their very mandate places co-operatives in a unique position to ensure and promote gender equality" (Majurin, 2010, p 1).

As will be presented in upcoming sections, one way to provide more evidence to the impact of a co-operative on women's empowerment and gender equality is to track gender-disaggregated data from the co-operative or to implement various indexes for gender evaluation. With gender-disaggregated data, analysis can be done with a gender equality lens, and this would help to shift the nature of some articles from "boosterism" to empirical findings regarding women's empowerment and gender equality.

This belief in the inherently empowering and fair nature of co-operatives for women can play out in different ways. For example, Dohmwirth argues that there is mixed evidence for the empowering effect of participation in co-operatives on women (2014). There is no definitive connection between participation and empowerment for women in developing countries involved in co-operatives, because co-operatives often reflect the same power relations of the society they exist within. This replication of power relations happens in co-operatives in the developed world as well. Nevertheless, there is some evidence that positive empowerment outcomes can occur for women, such as women in leadership positions in male-dominated fields (e.g. finance), women member's voices being heard at membership meetings, or the diversity of women's needs being heard by the Board or management (as stated in Rawlings and Shaw, 2016). From the research on the Sustainable Development Goals and co-operatives, led by the ILO and the Alliance, Wanyama provides an overview of co-operatives and gender equality:

"the increasing membership of women in co-operatives and their participation in co-operative leadership is arguably contributing to bridging the gap between women and men in access to resources and participation in decision-making. Nevertheless, a number of challenges remain in the path of co-operatives in realizing gender equality" (2014, p 24).

Challenges will be outlined in detail later in this section.

Many publications make claims about co-operatives' abilities to contribute to the improvement of women's lives. For example,

"In addition to improving incomes, co-operatives also make significant contributions to poverty alleviation through provision of non-financial services. For instance, evidence from Tanzania and Sri Lanka shows that co-operatives make a particular contribution in terms of skill development and education; gender equality and the empowerment of women; help when members suffer illness or other setbacks such as bereavement, and help to improve members' shelter and living standards. They also take

their central role in communities seriously, particularly in terms of solving common problems in the community and the creation of 'good citizens'" (Birchall and Simmons, 2009).

Other publications discuss how women involved in co-operatives can help to supplement the family income, which women ultimately use to help their kids go to school or access higher education, and more generally with other social aspects (White, 2013). Another article talks about the importance of the flexible work environment and structure that women have in using the co-operative model (Peterson, 2014). There are also examples of the importance of co-operatives in combatting the effects of globalisation on women (Stephen, 2005) and a growing interest in existing co-operatives and developing new co-operatives that respond to the need to shift from an informal economy to a formal economy for work that is done by women (Esim and Omeira, 2009).

As will be further identified in this literature review, the research also shows that co-operatives do not inherently profess to support gender equality and women's empowerment. As Lodhia states,

"it is clearly visible from the data that though co-operatives principles do not distinguish between men and women, the opportunity attained by men and women in co-operatives are still not similar. Women do not get equal opportunities as men get in co-operatives" (2009, p 5).

The emergence of women's co-operatives and women and co-operatives as two different topics

The next most significant trend is the emergence of literature on both women's co-operatives, as in co-operatives created for and by women, and women and co-operatives, as in women's participation within mixed-sex co-operatives. With the take-up of the co-operative structure by women globally, a rise in the number of women's co-operatives over the last 20 years has been observed. This differs from the enduring presence of gender equality and women's empowerment issues within co-operatives of mixed-sex, in general, and in specific sectors and geographic regions. For the purposes of this literature review, this is labelled women and co-operatives.

The recently published Guidance Notes on the Co-operative Principles outline the rationale for discretionary use of exclusion of membership in women's cooperatives:

"Such co-operatives, where membership is only open to women, do not breach the 1st Principle where they are established to overcome gender discrimination and disadvantage. They can help create opportunities for women in training on co-operative business and management, the building of capital, and help overcome lack of gender equality in cultures where women are traditionally excluded from entrepreneurial and/or leadership positions and activities. In these circumstances, women only co-operatives enable women to gain the skills and experience necessary to participate in larger co-operatives. Where restricting membership is a direct response to

wider gender discrimination and disadvantage women face in society, restricting membership to women only does not breach this 1st Principle" (Alliance, 2015).

It has also been noted that women's co-operatives and mixed-sex co-operatives have gendered differences, in that women's co-operatives tend to be "smaller in terms of capital, membership, and volume of business; often concentrated in women-dominated (and in some cases low-value) sectors; and generally less well connected to co-operative unions, federations and other support structures" (Majurin, 2012).

The volume of publications for both women's co-operatives and women and co-operatives is similar. The literature on women in development in general saw growth since the 1990s. During this same period, the Washington Consensus⁵ brought with it a reaction against communal, collective action including that of co-operatives. This topic gained attention in the global research sphere with the rise of women's studies, equality issues, and development issues. The interest in women's co-operatives as a topic of study has also increased, which is testament to the increased take-up of women's co-operatives as a structure for formal economic organising around the world, especially in developing contexts.

The following highlights some of the findings that emerged for each of these topics within the literature.

Women and co-operatives

As previously stated, publications about women and co-operatives cover issues of gender equality and women's empowerment within mixed co-operatives. Publications discuss women and co-operatives from countries and regions around the world (e.g. Ampaire, Machethe and Birachi, 2013; Sapovadia and Patel, 2013; Buang and Momsen, 2012).

Articles about women and co-operatives often do not specify the organisational structure that is used. For example, sometimes they are referring not to co-operatives, but to collective work organised along co-operative principles that is not formally incorporated as a co-operative in their country, such as the case in Cohn et al's work in Paraguay, which describes the co-operative aspects of women's work and their participation in community management (2003). In relation to this, the care provision through co-operatives research has revealed strong findings that co-operative management skills and know-how, as well as issues around financing, are major impediments to the survival and growth of

⁵ The Washington Consensus refers to a set of ten policies that were developed in the late 1980s to address economic crises in developing countries. The policies were developed by the US Government in collaboration with, among other institutions, the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund, and the US Treasury Department. The ten policy areas included: fiscal discipline; public expenditure priorities; tax reform; financial liberalisation; exchange rates; trade liberalisation; increasing foreign investment; privatisation; deregulation; secure intellectual property rights; and reduced role for the state. The Washington Consensus is considered to be a strongly market-based approach (WHO, 2015).

these informal co-operative structures (ILO, 2016). Sometimes they are talking about using co-operative values, but again not as an incorporated co-operative. Often the authors are studying formal co-operatives. For example, Burchi and Vicari states,

"Genuine co-operatives work as a means of exercising collective human agency as individuals come together to pursue goals that they value and have reason to value. Within these co-operatives, members have the right to self-determination, work together, share common interests and values, participate in decision-making and finally take decisions in a "democratic" way. It follows that participation is a core element of genuine co-operatives, which not only enlarges members' well-being outcomes but, thanks to the process of participating, can have a spill-over effect on other domains such as household decision-making" (2014, p 344).

The lack of specificity within the language on organisational structure can be frustrating when attempting to find concrete evidence on women's co-operatives or how gender equality and women's empowerment is being tackled within the co-operative movement. At the same time, the fact that an organisation's structure is not always explicitly mentioned does speak to the transient, fluid, applicable, and accessible nature of the Co-operative Principles across a continuum of informal to formal. Additionally, there is an emerging literature from

countries like Iran that indicate that women's participation in co-operatives is much higher than their participation in the overall labour force (Centre for Strategical **Statistics** & Information, 2015).

"The lack of specificity within the language on organisational structure can be frustrating when attempting to find concrete evidence on women's co-operatives or how gender equality and women's empowerment is being tackled within the co-operative movement."

Overall, as stated, the **movement.**" literature presents mixed results on whether gender equality and women's empowerment through co-operatives has been successful. Many publications definitively state that there has been improvement or could be improvement if policies, programs and/or new cultural norms were put in place to support gender equality and women's empowerment. This is stated with and without evidence backing these conclusions. All publications have suggested ways to make conditions better for women through co-operatives.

Women's co-operatives

The women's co-operative literature reflects the growing interest in co-operatives founded, designed and run by women, for women (Ibourk and Amaghouss, 2014; Russell-DuVarney, 2013; Sapovadia and Patel, 2013; Eccarius-Kelly, 2006; Duguid, Durutas and Wodziki, forthcoming). Overwhelmingly these co-operatives are intended to support women's access to the labour market. As stated by the ILO, "women-only co-operatives may help overcome social and cultural constraints which might otherwise limit women's participation in the workforce

and can be particularly relevant in gender segregated contexts" (ILO COOP, 2014, p 2).

Women's co-operatives can be a supportive, gender-specific organisational framework providing a safe environment for women to challenge patriarchal social norms related to decision-making and leadership (Russell-DuVarney, 2013). By using the women's co-operative structure, women can be empowered economically. According to Datta and Gailey, "the personal accounts of sister members reveal that this collective form of entrepreneurship has empowered them in three ways: economic security, development of entrepreneurial behavior, and increased contributions to the family" (2012, p. 569). However, according to the literature, women's co-operatives may also run up against stereotypes and discrimination tactics. For example, women-only co-operatives may be stigmatised and treated as suspect and illegitimate, making them especially vulnerable to failure. Oerton (1996), who interviewed 15 women working in 15 different all-women coops, found that workers in these organisations are often negatively stereotyped (Sobering et al, 2014). Additionally, the 'small-is-beautiful'

syndrome applies here, in that women-only co-operatives are only eligible for microfinance or are small-income generating enterprises, thus there is little recognition or addressing of growth issues, needs, and concerns.

Women's co-operatives are often strategies in response to patriarchal labour market institutions, like agricultural or financial co-operatives, where women may not be or feel welcome and heard. Making spaces that allow women to exercise their democratic

"Making spaces that allow women to exercise their democratic decision-making without being discriminated against is critical to women's success...towards dismantling patriarchal structures"

decision-making without being discriminated against is critical to women's success in making inroads towards dismantling patriarchal structures. While the body of literature overwhelmingly shows that women's co-operatives are not a panacea for solving women's empowerment or gender equality issues, there are some extremely successful examples of women's co-operatives (see case studies in the Sectoral Analysis section of this report). But many are struggling to get traction in terms of financial, human, and social support from members, employees, the government, men, and the general public.

The women's co-operatives literature addresses the following topics:

- Access to labour market and employment opportunities that are created with other women
- Combatting social, cultural, and religious norms that are oppressive to women
- Expanding the role of women beyond domestic and reproductive roles
- Better conditions of work including decent work, equal pay, and social protection
- Social development such as empowerment, leadership, and selfesteem building
- Lack of formal education and training for women to succeed in business
- Transition from working in the informal economy to the formal economy
- Certain sectors of work such as domestic work and care services are highlighted
- Opportunities that come with a woman's ability to be independent
- Democratic nature of co-operatives allows for women to practice participation, engage in decision-making

Challenges related to gender equality and women's empowerment in co-operatives

Every publication presented some challenges for women and co-operatives with regards to gender equality and women's empowerment. Not every publication talked about all of the challenges. The following are the challenges that most commonly emerged. The findings have been clustered to reflect challenges to women's empowerment in the areas of economic rights and access to finance; social, cultural, and legal rights; and organisational participation. Women's challenges are found across arenas, including the co-operative itself, the household, the community, and within broader arenas that include state and federal levels of engagement. Quotes from publications are included here to illustrate how these challenges are being discussed in the literature. Two larger areas, those of additional research and leadership, are addressed in a subsequent section.

Women's economic rights and access

Women experience a lack of funding (financing and capital) throughout all stages in the life cycle of co-operatives (e.g., start up, operational, and expansion). A major issue is that the conditions of credit are often disadvantageous to women. Majurin, who was investigating the African context, noted the barriers to women

accessing credit, including, "lack of collateral, complicated administrative procedures, unsuitable loan sizes or interest rates" that limit women workers' "investment and productive capacit(ies)...as well as their ability to finance other basic and strategic needs" (2010, p3).

A broader issue within the co-operative sector that created general funding issues affecting women's economic opportunities and access to employment is related to outside sources of funding and management of funders' expectations. Fulfilling the requirements and priorities of foreign funding sources can pull away from upholding gender equality and supporting women's empowerment. Additionally, instead of co-operative independence, women's co-operatives often become dependent on donor and funding agencies.

Women's ability to found and manage co-operatives is related to barriers to women's access to economic participation in general, including the high costs of doing business (e.g. start-up expenses, acquiring equipment, and adequate space in markets) and women's capacity to navigate the business world due to lack of access to knowledge, training, and education (e.g. low managerial and operational experience, lack of knowledge about Fair Trade). Due to lack of access to financing and knowledge, women are less likely to have access to markets, to be able to address issues that arise when shifting from informal to formal economy, and to be able to address the tensions between market demand and quality of goods or services. Women's lack of business acumen, such as technical knowledge, and skills in marketing, management, and operations, result in low productivity and competitiveness.

Women are particularly over-represented in the informal economy, doing both paid and unpaid labour in the form of care work, domestic help, and on family farms (ILO, 2012b; Majurin, 2010). These informal labour conditions increase women's vulnerability, as workers have "low levels of collective organisation, low bargaining power, inadequate working conditions, as well as low access to business inputs" (Majurin, 2010, p 4). Women around the globe working in the informal economy are often excluded in labour laws and are therefore not allowed to form trade unions. In countries where workers (including domestic, home-based, and waste pickers) can organise, some unions have established co-operatives for their members. "These co-operatives aim to provide job placement services as well as financial services, training and policy advocacy with their members" (ILO, 2014c).

"Co-operatives are increasingly providing a way for domestic workers to organize together and to help protect their working environments" (ILO, 2014a, p 2).

However, in many parts of the world, including the majority of Arab countries, informal workers such as domestic workers are barred from establishing trade unions, leaving these workers little recourse for accessing fair and safe employment (ILO, 2015b, p 1).

Women's social, cultural, and legal rights

Many of the challenges discussed in the literature that affected women's participation in co-operatives spoke to the reflection of social and cultural norms in the policies and laws of each country. Challenges of this nature varied greatly depending on the country and cultural context, but were ever present. The lack of gender equality for women in their lives is typically based on oppressive and unequal cultural norms and biases that see women's main role to be domestic and reproductive. Because of these biased cultural norms, women suffer from oppression, discrimination, and human rights violations and remain in a position of inequality because their lived realities are not taken into consideration by policy-makers and other decision-makers. In the Palestinian context,

"women's situation is worsened by patriarchal norms and rigid gender stereotypes regarding their role, which hinders their full participation in cooperatives. When social traditions do not constrain their participation, women may still be discouraged from participating actively as members or leaders within the co-operative. In fact, women's co-operative board members are mostly inactive or relegated to positions such as Board Secretary or Treasurer, as they are considered "culturally acceptable for women" but not conducive to decision making" (ILO, 2015b, p 3).

In some contexts women are impeded by restrictions on their ability to seek and access employment outside of the home. At the same time, women do the bulk of the household workload which is unpaid and unrecognised (as work and in terms of its contribution to the economy) and because of household responsibilities, have limited time to contribute to paid work.

"Traditional conceptions of the roles of women and men, and their expected behavioural patterns, are leading to a lower participation of women in economic and public leadership activities" (Wanyama, 2014, p 25).

Women are often limited to work in what is considered "women's realm", limiting them to care and domestic work, and are hindered from fully participating in the formal work economy due to lack of childcare for families and women being viewed as primary caregivers. Like many women around the globe Palestinian women, for example, experience limitations by the aforementioned factors:

"women's additional productive tasks do not lead to a lessening or sharing of tasks in the household with the male counterparts. Therefore, women continue to perform their roles in child rearing, family care and household maintenance – all in addition to their new roles in the informal or formal sector economy" (ILO, 2014c, p 3).

Discriminatory policies and practices against women, such as a lack of state policies for advancing gender equality or empowering women and legal restrictions on women's access to productive resources in general (finances/capital, land and other property), are strong barriers to women's participation in the workforce. Women in Africa, for example, produce 80 per cent of food, but receive only 7 per cent of agricultural inputs and services, less than

10 per cent of the credit offered to small-scale farmers, and own only 1 per cent of the land (Majurin, 2010, p. 2).

The ILO (2015b) documents how in the occupied Palestinian territory women have a combination of low education levels, low income, and minimal access to financing. The laws are also discriminatory against women, some regions not allowing women to inherit land.

"Even in women-only co-operatives, women generally lack the financial and physical resources to contribute to the growth of their co-operatives in the long run" (ILO, 2015b, p. 3).

One of the major factors, external to co-operatives, that adversely affect women is the fact that larger numbers of women suffer from extreme poverty compared to men. Report after report has found that when women earn money they are more likely than men to spend it on food, education and health – exactly the things which help to raise families out of poverty – whilst men tend to spend it on themselves or their businesses. The rules on membership and the opportunities for women to benefit from and contribute to co-operatives are slowly improving, but meanwhile women and girls who work in agriculture largely remain powerless and uneducated labourers, with the dual task of working the land and running the household (FAO, 2011; Rawlings and Shaw, 2016).

Other external factors that affect women's ability to access fair employment include a lack of support or goodwill towards women who are collectively organising to overcome the challenges in the labour market; a lack of attention towards women's needs from all levels of government (municipal, regional, and federal); and a lack of attention and concrete support from coordinating agents or authorities (UN, governments, professional bodies, associations, etc.) to promote women and co-operatives specifically.

Many of the challenges highlighted from the literature pointed to women members, employees, founders, and directors needing to enhance key skills and knowledge. These capacity challenges spoke to women's ability to start, manage, and grow co-operatives effectively. Women's lack of capacity in these areas is directly related to their lack of access to and attainment of education and training, causing women to have higher levels of illiteracy and generally lower levels of education than men in rural and informal settings, placing women at a distinct disadvantage to their male counterparts. In many countries, women have lower levels of literacy, and limited access to education, skills development, productive inputs (including land and credit), and information, which both directly and indirectly hinder their ability to form or even join and use the services of cooperatives (Wanyama, 2014, p 25). Women's lack of business acumen such as technical knowledge, and skills in marketing, management, and operations, results in low productivity and an inability to compete. Women have often not had access to training and have little knowledge of how to run a business or a cooperative and therefore do not necessarily know about and understand cooperative structures and the Co-operative Principles.

Training offered by development agencies or universities needs to have the local context reflected and a gender lens in order to effectively address the needs of women in their lived realities. For many, entrepreneurship is often little more than a buzzword, not sufficient to address many of the constraints women face (Ibourk and Amaghouss, 2014). The entrepreneurial push involves risk, desire for independence, monetary incentives, and flexibility, some of which women have, some of which they do not. The entrepreneurial work that women do is often not recognised because entrepreneurship does not inherently have a gender lens.

"Too often, entrepreneurial efforts by women have gone unnoticed, and their contributions have been underappreciated. In part, this is because women's business ventures, particularly those in less developed countries, function more in the informal rather than formal economy" (Batta and Gailey, 2012).

Women's organisational participation

Gender relations exist within co-operatives, creating gendered power relations and hierarchies that discriminate against women members. The attitudes and the influence of leaders often reflect negatively on women. While some co-operative boards in developing countries have implemented a female quota, there are only a handful of women on these boards, one or two at most, and these few women:

"...cannot influence the decision-making and have not been able to change the whole working system. The need for equal representation and networking remains unattained in most of the countries" (Lodhia, 2009).

A lack of gender mainstreaming through policies and by-laws is supported by overall gender biases within "households, communities, and co-operatives themselves that favor educated male household heads and land owners over resource-poor women" (Woldu et al, 2013).

Because of women's lack of access to financial resources and education and training, they are less able to contribute knowledge and funds to the cooperative. Often women are unable to fully participate in the functioning and governance of a co-operative due to their role in the family, gender bias in the cooperative, and a lack of education and training. In the occupied Palestinian territory, the ILO identified a number of hindrances to women's participation:

"women's participation can be seen as largely superficial in co-operatives where male members register and pay membership fees on behalf of the women members of their families (wives, daughters, sisters) in order to maximize their ownership share and financial returns from the co-operative by bypassing ownership rules. In addition, a large number of mixed co-operatives encourage participation of women only in order to attract external donor support, rather than work towards real integration" (ILO, 2009b, p 4).

The literature found that women were not being heard in governance or debates within co-operatives. Women in co-operatives had few opportunities for career advancement and a lack of access to education and training with co-operatives. Women were in turn marginalised in leadership because of lack of training and

education. A key issue is that co-operative by-laws are gender blind and do not offer opportunities for women members or employees. As Majurin states,

"achieving active and equal participation of women – being able to influence decision-making and shape the co-operative's agenda as leaders, or being able to access benefits such as services or education as members, for instance – which is not shown by statistics, is an even greater challenge, although the democratic nature of the co-operative does mean women members, like men, can have a stronger voice in the co-operative's matters than in other types of enterprise" (2010, p 7).

Co-operatives that do not adhere to the Co-operative Principles create an environment that is not conducive to gender equality. Operational issues related to the successful development, management, and operation of co-operatives were presented in the literature. These operational challenges affected women's co-operatives as well women in co-operatives in terms of gender equality and women's empowerment.

Research needs

Another cluster of challenges that emerged from the literature are research needs. As has been presented thus far, there are many examples of thorough research studies with thoughtful findings; however, challenges have been identified as the lack of data, metrics, and over-arching research strategy.

Lack of sex-disaggregated data

The regular collection of sex-disaggregated data within co-operatives and by cooperatives on a range of issues, including numbers, status (member, employment status, position), job type (full-time/part-time, volunteer), and quality of job (contract, benefits, etc.), should be encouraged and disseminated widely (ILO, 2014). Sex-aggregated data collection will help to "show the wide gap between the positions of men and women in co-operatives through statistics" (Lodhia, 2009, p 3). The data will help make visible patterns related to services that can allow co-operatives to "change policies or repackage services to ensure both women and men are maximizing the benefits they receive and the contributions they make to the co-operative" (Clugston, 2014). Among the larger data-collecting institutions and mechanisms, the World Co-operative Monitor asks two questions - how many women members does your co-operative have and how many women employees does your co-operative have. These are good starting points for data collection on gender division of labour in co-operatives; however, additional questions on board composite and leadership will provide a more expansive picture of women's participation in co-operatives.

Leadership

Complementary to this literature review on gender equality and women's empowerment through co-operatives, Rawlings and Shaw (2016) have conducted a literature review of leadership, women, and co-operatives. This is timely, as leadership is indeed one of the main themes that emerged from the wider body of literature on co-operatives and women.

Rawlings and Shaw have demarcated the literature into developed and developing countries. While the differences between developed and developing nations in terms of women leadership in co-operatives are not always so different, there are nuances represented in the research. The following themes suggest that there has not been extensive research conducted into leadership, women, and co-operatives because, similar to the wider body of literature, there is little (researched and published) that empirically captures the lay of the land for women and leadership in co-operatives.

To begin, for both developing and developed nations, studies have concluded that due to household responsibilities, limited (mainly part-time) employment, along with heavy workloads there is little opportunity for women to advance up the ladder (Rawlings and Shaw, 2016). Women often do not have enough time, nor the level of self-esteem necessary to take on leadership positions. A study in Ireland on why women did not take on leadership positions in credit unions found that women felt uneasy about taking on important roles because they did not feel they had the knowledge to lead (McKillop et al, 2003).

The following presents some highlights from particular studies conducted in developed nations. In England, women's participation at board level is around twice the level in comparison to leading investor-owned companies (Birchall, 2013). At the same time Co-operatives UK has an initiative – the 2020 Co-operative Women's Challenge – to address the under-representation of women in the movement (Nedoszytko, 2012). In Norway, a board with a balance of women meant decisions were more rounded and balanced (Matsa and Miller, 2013). A study conducted in Italy suggests that co-operatives with many women tend to balance better work and family pressures (Poggio, 2009). And in the US, an ongoing study found that agriculture co-operatives have a low representation of women, whereas in arts and crafts, education, and grocery co-operatives, representation was higher (Hueth and Reynolds, 2014).

This type of case and country study research is important in understanding the landscape of women and co-operatives; however, as Rawlings and Shaw attest, not enough research has been done to provide conclusive evidence of improvement, and in fact there is suggestion of continuing and significant gender gaps and barriers to women participating in leadership positions.

Leadership is reflected differently in the developing and developed worlds. In the developing world studies show that women are under-represented in leadership positions, especially in agricultural co-operatives (Rawlings and Shaw, 2016). The ILO survey (Majurin, 2012) reported an average women's presence on boards of 17 per cent, though this masked considerable variation between countries as the numbers range from 7 per cent in Tanzania to 34 per cent in Uganda. By contrast, there was a far better representation of women on the boards of the financial co-operatives surveyed, with women making up almost half of the membership of boards. Another study revealed that in the coffee co-

-

⁶ The Rawlings and Shaw literature review was helpful in identifying many of these leadership studies.

operatives of northern Tanzania: "The co-operative business is a man's business in Tanzania. Both men and women participate from the beginning. But when it comes to reaping, it belongs to men. Women made up a fifth of the membership but very few were in leadership positions" (Rawlings and Shaw, 2016).

As Majurin points out, in three East African countries - Kenya, Tanzania, and Uganda - the persistence of negative cultural attitudes towards women's leadership can be seen clearly in the fact that women tend to be less wellrepresented in elected positions, such as members of the board, than as members of staff in managerial positions (2012). In an ILO study of Latin American co-operatives, a similar pattern to that seen in other regions is revealed. Women remain under-represented in the decision-making bodies of cooperatives despite comprising over half of the membership (Mogrovejo et al, 2012). A 2006 study by the International Co-operative Alliance Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific (Alliance Asia and Pacific) collected gender disaggregated data, in order to map progress and gaps in participation of women in co-operative leadership and membership. The study aimed to establish a standard system for generating, analysing, and using gender-disaggregated data, to assist co-operatives in collecting this data and to publish regular reports (Hirway and Lodhia, 2007). They concluded, despite the low response rate, that women were still heavily under-represented at leadership levels, although there were variations between countries (Hirway and Lodhia, 2007).

There have been some interesting developments recently in terms into mandating women leadership positions. For example, as Rawlings and Shaw point out, in Kenya a new state constitution came into effect in 2012. This requires women to make up one third of all

"there are fears that women will not have the skills, knowledge and confidence to engage in board activities"

elected bodies. As there are about 10,000 co-operatives in Kenya, this will mean a minimum of 15,000 women joining co-operative boards for the first time. At first glance this sounds like a great improvement for women. However, given that women tend to be less educated than men, and that culturally they are used to taking a subservient role, there are fears that women will not have the skills, knowledge, and confidence to engage in board activities. They may obtain a board position, but not be able to fulfil its requirements. This could ultimately be disastrous, both for the women involved and for the reputation of women as leaders. If this move is to have a positive effect, it must be accompanied by widespread training (Rawlings and Shaw, 2016).

While all the above challenges and realities persist for women and co-operatives, there is research that suggests co-operatives, mixed or women's co-operatives, do contribute positively to women's leadership skills and attainment of leadership positions (Tesfay and Tadele, 2013; Buang and Momsen, 2012).

Strengths, gaps, and opportunities

The body of literature on co-operatives and women regarding gender equality and women's empowerment reveals that reaching back to 1990, researchers are finding similar, if not exactly the same issues, for women regarding gender equality and women's empowerment in society and co-operatives. While the issues for women and co-operatives may not have changed, the rate/levels of improvement do indicate areas that are strengthening, which areas still need improvement, and the areas that present opportunities to achieve greater levels of women's empowerment and gender equality.

Strengths

With the growth in the number of women's co-operatives around the world, there is a stream of studies looking specifically at women's co-operatives that is embraced within the women and co-operatives topic. An extensive selection of case studies is available on individual co-operatives, what they are doing for women, and their challenges. An abundance of information is available on the challenges that women in co-operatives face regarding gender equality and women's empowerment. In general, there is some academic interest in women and co-operatives, but the bulk of the publishing on this topic has been by UN agencies like the ILO and FAO.

Gaps or weaknesses

Gaps or weaknesses in the literature on women and co-operatives include such areas as: the amount of research available on women and co-operatives: the lack of empirically-based studies; the need for critical reflection entrepreneurialism as it relates to women; the scarcity of co-operative to cooperative comparison or comparisons to other organisational structures in relation to women; the deficiency of academic research on women and co-operatives in key areas; and lack of sex-disaggregated data. Not unlike the research on cooperatives in general, the research on women and co-operatives is difficult to

"Without disaggregated gender data that is routinely collected based on indicators reflecting women's empowerment and gender equality...it is difficult to grasp the complete empowering or equitable picture of the individual co-operative, sector, geographical jurisdiction or the co-operative movement as a

locate, widely dispersed, and found in diverse resources. Despite there being great numbers of case studies, overall there are very few empirically-based research studies conducted to explore how women's co-operatives or women and co-operatives are improving gender equality or supporting women's empowerment. For example, the other sectors or organisational structures have

used indices, standardised tools, indicators, and/or social or economic yardsticks to concretely measure impact in terms of gender equality or women's empowerment. Co-operatives and/or co-operative researchers have not done this as of yet. The research does not critically reflect on the insurgence of entrepreneurialism, including the language and assumptions that come with it, and how this may not be applicable for women, nor is a gender lens placed on entrepreneurship with any frequency. The research comparing co-operatives to co-operatives in terms of gender equality or women's empowerment is scant and research comparing co-operatives to other organisational structures is almost non-existent. Academic interest in the role of co-operatives in gender equality and women's empowerment in key disciplines such as business or economics is insufficient. One of the greatest gaps is the dearth of universal and/or standardised data about women and co-operatives. Without routinely collecting gender data based on indicators reflecting women's disaggregated empowerment and gender equality - even the basics such as number of female board members, number of female members, number of female employees, or number of females in leadership positions - it is difficult to grasp the complete empowering or equitable picture of the individual co-operative, sector, geographical jurisdiction or the co-operative movement as a whole. Without disaggregated gender data there can be no baseline from which to gauge success or areas that need improvement, no forecasting towards a more gender equal future, and no benchmarking trends.

Opportunities

Given the strengths and the gaps discussed above, the following outlines some ideas for increasing our understanding of gender equality and women's empowerment in co-operatives today and ultimately, improving the lives of women around the world through co-operative enterprising.

Many international organisations have good databases of reports, and academic literature can be accessed through universities. However, it would be helpful if there were a clearinghouse for publications on women and co-operatives to support easy and efficient access to the research completed. This could be complemented with a searchable database and links to electronic versions of the research. This could be updated yearly. For example, if the World Co-operative Monitor and other co-operative data collection efforts collected more gender specific indicators it would be a good start to improving the data available.

In addition to the World Co-operative Monitor expanding to include more gender specific data, if co-operative federations, apex associations, and tertiary, secondary and primary co-operatives collected and analysed sex-disaggregated data about their co-operatives it would greatly support their understanding of gender equality and women's empowerment as well as researchers' ability to study it. Co-operative studies researchers and/or researchers from other disciplines (e.g. economics, business administration, labour studies, etc.) could use other metrics, frameworks, and methodologies to study and frame gender equality and women's empowerment in co-operatives. More empirical studies conducted in co-operatives on gender equality and women's empowerment

would assist in building a more accurate picture of women and co-operatives. Many publications present the positive impacts of co-operatives for women without a lot of substantive evidence backing them up.

Studies have captured the challenges for women in co-operatives and women's co-operatives and have made recommendations towards redressing inequities. An opportunity exists for researchers, practitioners, and policy-makers to digest and discuss how women or co-operatives have developed solutions to gender equality problems and/or how they have developed strategies to best support women's empowerment. Further research comparing organisational structures to co-operatives and/or co-operatives to co-operatives on their support for women's empowerment and gender equality could develop a better understanding of gender equality and women's empowerment in co-operatives in terms of all of the clusters — policy, operations, capacity building, and research. Finally, a critical study conducted on co-operatives regarding gender awareness presents an opportunity to critically assess those with large and small gaps and to support their adoption of a culture of gender equality and women's empowerment.

Sectoral analysis

This section highlights three key overarching areas that co-operatives commonly work in around the world - agriculture, finance, and consumer. These three broad co-operative sectors bring a range of opportunities and challenges in terms of the ability of individual co-operatives to support women's empowerment and gender equality. This brief sectoral analysis explores each of the overarching sectors to get a sense of how they support women's empowerment and gender equality through the areas of economic rights and access to finance; social, cultural, and legal rights; and organisational participation and leadership. For each sector, indicators are presented, e.g., percentage of women among members, workers, and leaders, and where they were found in the literature. Embedded into the sectoral analyses are discussions on rural issues and the informal economy. Also included in this section are case study examples of cooperatives within each sector that are working towards gender equality and women's empowerment. These case studies provide real life examples of how co-operatives across sectors are creating opportunities for women to access economic and social empowerment, and experience gender equality.

Women and agricultural co-operatives

The majority of people experiencing poverty are located in rural areas in developing countries. Agriculture is the mainstay of most of the economy in developing countries (FAO, 2011). "Women supply 43 per cent of all agricultural labour in low- and middle-income countries" (FAO, 2015) and upwards of 70 per cent in developing countries (Fairtrade International, 2015). The challenges to supporting women in agriculture come up repeatedly in the literature, particularly around women farmers' access to land, and their limited access to inputs, seeds, credits, and extension services.

A recent (October 2015) report from UN Women, UNEP, United Nations Development Program (UNDP), and the World Bank Group recognises the crucial role that closing the gender gap in Malawi, Tanzania, and Uganda will play in boosting productivity, economic growth, and vitality in these areas. Closing the gender gap could potentially lift close to half a million people living in rural areas in these countries out of poverty (FAO, 2011). In 2014, during the UN's International Co-operative Day, the World Farmer's Organisation's President, Peter Kendall, emphasised the "impact that agricultural co-operatives have on sustainable development around the world, and their key role in eradicating hunger and achieving food security" (World Farmers' Organisation, 2014). The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) endorses support for women's co-operatives as means to assist women to,

[&]quot;grow their social capital, improve self-esteem and self-reliance, acquire a

greater voice in decision-making, and collectively negotiate better contract terms, prices and access to a wide range of resources and services including: agricultural resources and assets; markets to commercialize their produce; credit, capital and other financial services; and social services" (FAO, 2012a).

Economic rights and access to finance

Women farmers in developing countries have less education, less access to resources (e.g. seeds, fertilizers and farm equipment, land, and other labour saving devices) and less access to transportation and therefore less access to markets. They also grow crops that are smaller and have less value on the market. Due to multiple and complex reasons, women also have less access to male family labour (FAO, 2011; UN Women et al, 2015). The challenges to women farmers from these African countries are similar to rural women farmers from many countries in the developing world.

Women tend to be more involved in agricultural co-operatives within the contexts of the developing world in rural areas and face greater challenges than their male counterparts. They are frequently small-scale, informal, and unpaid contributing family farmers. The 50 per cent (just over) of women involved in agriculture in Asia and Africa and approximately 20 per cent in Latin America (UN Women, Fact & Figures, 2015) account for approximately 43 per cent of the global agricultural labour force (FAO, 2011). Women support their households by producing more than half of all food worldwide, despite increasing competition over the natural resource base, which is being depleted by climate change and unsustainable practices (Grassi, Landberg and Huyer, 2015).

Social, cultural, and legal rights

On average less than 20 per cent of landholders are women (FAO 2011, p 37); however, statistics for landownership, particularly in African countries, are blurred by categories of jointly-owned (husband and wife), family owned, community owned, and so on. Men typically have only 10 per cent higher sole land ownership (Doss, 2014). Women's rights to family or jointly owned lands after their male co-owner dies may be limited (lbid). Gender differences in access to land and credit affect the relative ability of female and male farmers and entrepreneurs to invest, operate to scale, and benefit from new economic opportunities (FAO, 2012b).

Organisational participation and leadership

Research shows that women's participation in agricultural co-operatives is rising. In Uganda, women's participation is increasing faster than male participation (Wanyama, 2014, p 4). However co-operative leadership opportunities for women are still disproportionately low. A survey of 55 area co-operative enterprises (ACEs) in Uganda found a more pronounced increase in women's participation in agricultural co-operatives (between 2007 and 2010) than in men's (132 per cent and 94 per cent, respectively). In Ethiopia, only 18 per cent of co-operative members are women, and Alliance data from Kenya show that women

comprise 40 per cent of employees in agricultural co-operatives, only 26 per cent of members, and a mere 9 per cent of management (Wanyama, 2014). In Latin America, statistics (Alliance, 2011) from Paraguay show that overall participation in agricultural co-operatives (including hunting, livestock, and forestry) has 17.2 per cent women (Alliance, 2012). In Guatemala, 22.8 per cent of agricultural co-operative members are women (Alliance, 2010). In Chile, 31.9 per cent of agricultural co-operative members are women (Alliance, 2014). In Venezuela, women made up only 6.1 per cent of all agricultural co-operative members (Alliance, 2004).

In India, 54 per cent⁷ of the Self Employed Women's Association's (SEWA) 1.3 million members are small and marginalised women farmers who are also all members of the SEWA co-operative bank, the Shri Mahila SEWA Bank Ltd. (Madan, 2010). SEWA assists the farmers with everything from learning about composting and water conservation to assisting with access to markets and financial assistance. In Central Asia, data on women's agricultural co-operatives is much less readily available; however, there are accounts of projects such as the FAO's Integrated Dairy Scheme co-operative for women in Herat, Afghanistan (FAO et al, 2015). This project succeeded in improving women's socio-economic status within the household and community by enabling 1,540 rural women to benefit from earning a regular small income (ibid). As in other parts of the world, one of the biggest challenges to Central Asian women is the issue of land rights. Organisations such as UNIFEM are assisting women in these regions by pushing for legislation to change the laws that govern land reform in countries such as Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan (Chen et al, 2005).

In the majority of the world, female farmers—who contribute tremendously to the agricultural sector—are marginalised from participating and benefiting from such groups compared to men (Woldu et al, 2013). A study by Garnevska et al (2011) suggested that in Northern China women were doing most of the farming while the men worked elsewhere as migrants; however, it was the men who attended the co-operative meetings and took part in the decision-making (p 76). Gender inequality in this region was illustrated by women's limited access to education and their concomitant low literacy rates.

At the global governance level, institutions are aware of the great potential for poverty reduction that comes with supporting women farmers (FAO, 2011; OECD, 2012) and in 2006 the World Bank put forward the recommendation to "support women's groups to facilitate the formation of farmers' co-operatives" (World Bank, 2006, p 13). The FAO recommends the following: policy interventions to help close the gender gap; the need for more investment in labour-saving and productivity-enhancing technologies and infrastructure to free up women's time; and facilitating women's participation in rural labour markets

36

⁷ The other 46% of SEWA's members are informal economy workers (street vendors, waste pickers, home-based workers, etc.).

Women in agricultural co-operatives case studies

Integrated Dairy Services – Afghanistan Dairy Co-operatives

Integrated Dairy Services (IDS) are based on the formation of smallholder farmer co-operatives, organised at the village level, which together form a dairy union at the provincial level. The IDS model consists of a dairy value chain – managed by the union as an enterprise – that encompasses milk production, collection, processing, and marketing of pasteurized milk and dairy products.

The IDS was not designed with a gender strategy, but was based on the knowledge of the roles and responsibilities of women and men in Afghanistan's livestock sector. The approach ensured that IDS had a strong empowering effect on women. Indeed, women milk producer-members are able to retain, manage, and spend almost 90 percent of proceeds from milk sales. The co-operatives in conjunction with the union structure offer an opportunity for women to sell their milk at the village level and receive a weekly cash income from sales.

The IDS training and extension services support women farmers in improving their cattle breeds and in feeding and increasing the number of dairy cows they own, which substantially raises their income. A woman who sells 15 litres/day at the Balkh Livestock Development Union (BLDU), for example, can generate a monthly income of US\$140, a significant income in rural Afghanistan. An additional benefit to women is that better-fed cattle produce more dung, which is used as fertilizer for crops and, most important, as a replacement for firewood, reducing the pressure on wood consumption and the workload and risks for women.

Training under the IDS co-operative structure appears to be crucial to women's empowerment since, in addition to improved cattle management, they learn valuable skills that enable them to better take care of themselves and their families. Consequently, their bargaining power in the household and the community has improved, as has their ability to spend money on what they consider priority needs, such as more education for children, improved nutrition and access to health services for the family. Thanks to training, women also improved their social standing and their freedom of movement; some of them

_

⁸ The FAO recommends the following measures at the policy level: Governments and international organisations should: increase understanding of the importance of equitable gender relations within households and co-operatives; facilitate and increase rural women's access to, control over and management of productive resources and agricultural services; diversify employment and incomegenerating opportunities for rural women; implement policies that foresee quotas or targets for women's participation; and promote and facilitate collective action. At the co-operative level, governments and international organisations should assist co-operatives in: increasing and creating opportunities for rural women to participate in mixed and women-only co-operatives; facilitating women's leadership in producer organisations and co-operatives; linking women to markets; strengthening gender roles and relations; and putting in place measures such as graduated membership fees (FAO 2012a).

participated in exchange visits organised by IDS to other co-operatives, thus widening their horizons. Furthermore, some women participate in the public sphere and others are even involved in politics at village and district level. This may have a strong long-term impact, leading in time to rural communities with more balanced gender roles and gender dynamics.

The IDS is considered the country's largest and most successful co-operative. Currently organised in separate unions at the provincial level, they have the potential to unite under a national federation. From a gender perspective, this might spark greater women's empowerment, especially as female farmers in the IDS start to become involved as registered union members and participate in decision-making.

(Adapted from FAO et al, 2015: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4585e.pdf)

Flores del Café (Coffee Flowers) Women's Movement and Cafenica – Nicaragua

The Flores del Café Women's Movement (MMFC) emerged from a women's group within a coffee co-operative. This later became the 'Flores del Café Alliance' of female producers from primary-level co-operatives. Their aim is to share experiences and explore new ways for working together.

Flores del Café provides the space for women to exchange experiences, share learning, advocate internally in their co-operatives, and improve their socio-economic conditions. Women build their capacity, strengthen their leadership, develop their abilities and skills, and fill directive, managerial, and administrative positions in the organisations they are part of.

The Flores del Cafe Movement has its own strengthening strategy and women's agenda, which are recognised at national and international levels and form the building blocks for an organisational-training model for women cooperators.

Cafenica is a non-profit association consisting of ten co-operatives. Its commitment to promote strengthening and development opportunities for women is combined with the efforts already made by its member organisations to promote the rights of female members in primary-level co-operatives. It creates a space for women in the coffee organisations to share their experiences both within and beyond the co-operatives, it supports and promotes female leadership, and raises awareness of both the challenges faced by women as well as their achievements, as female producers and as entrepreneurs. In this way, it strengthens the 'Flores del Café' Women's Movement and ensures it is an integral part of the coffee organisations.

Cafenica member co-operatives also develop various projects that work to specifically benefit women. These projects cover topics such as financing policies to increase access to land, legalisation of land titles, and self-esteem training, to name a few.

(Adapted from Cafenica's website: http://cafenica.net/en/gender/)

Women and financial co-operatives

The very nature of participating in financial co-operatives addresses economic rights and access to finance. Therefore this section will look at any aspects of women's social, cultural, and legal rights, and organisational participation and leadership, that financial co-operatives support.

Social, cultural, and legal rights

Women, especially in developing country contexts and impoverished and vulnerable sectors of developed countries, face social, cultural, and legal barriers to accessing finance. Constraints on land ownership and income exist because women's work is primarily informal or domestic, so women are often ineligible for credit and other financial services. Financial co-operatives and SACCOs⁹ directly address this gender gap by creating programs and services that enable women to access much needed financial inputs.

Organisational participation and leadership

The financial co-operative sector literature indicates that there has been consistent growth in women members of saving and credit co-operatives (SACCOs) (ILO, 2015; Wanyama, 2014). The increase in women's participation may be attributed to supporting initiatives that placed a special focus on women, such as the Organization for Rural Development (ORUDE) from Uganda that worked with the ILO to implement Sub-County Savings and Lending Co-operatives (SUSALECOs) that would assist 500 members from 20 women's

economic groups to form lending cooperatives (Mshiu, 2015). For example, data Tanzania indicates that women's membership in SACCOs more than quadrupled between 2005 and 2010. increasing from some 86,000 to more than 375,000 members, bringing women's share in SACCO membership to over 43 per cent (Majurin, 2012). In South Africa, women

"data from Tanzania indicates that women's membership in SACCOs more than quadrupled between 2005 and 2010"

make up 60 per cent of the SACCO members. Women agricultural co-operative members are often also members of SACCOs, an important support for women farmers. In Paraguay 97.9 per cent of all women co-operative members participate in financial co-operatives (Alliance, 2012). In Chile, more women (54.3 per cent) than men (47.8 per cent) participate in financial co-operatives (Alliance, 2014). Guatemalan women make up 55.6 per cent of the financial co-operatives members (Alliance, 2010). While women's participation in financial co-operatives is increasing globally, their opportunities for leadership positions in financial co-operatives are still lacking.

In the occupied Palestinian territory, despite a history of low women's

⁹ A SACCO is a Savings and Credit Cooperative, a financial institution set up and run by its members who have a common goal or bond. SACCO is a term predominantly used in African countries.

participation in co-operatives, changes are beginning to take shape in favour of women. For instance, the Union of Co-operative Associations for Savings and Credit, registered in 2005, has more women members than men. The vision of the union is to build a better future for Palestinian women living in rural areas based on co-operative principles (Al Madmouj, 2012).

Women's leadership in financial co-operatives is nowhere near gender parity although some examples of strong women's leadership exist. In Canada's largest credit union, Vancity, six out of ten board members, including the chair and vice chair, are women, and the CEO is also a woman. Vancity's level of women's leadership is, however, an anomaly in Canada. As recently as June 2015, the Credit Union Central of Canada joined the "30% Club," a campaign to increase the number of women on boards and in executive positions across credit unions to 30 per cent (Phelps, 2015). In 2013 the International Co-operative and Mutual Insurance Federation (ICMIF) carried out a survey into women's leadership among its members. Of the 214 member organisations, ICMIF found that twenty (13.6 per cent) had women CEOs. At the board level the picture further improved, with 25 per cent of ICMIF members surveyed having three or more women on their boards - again comparing favourably with the mainstream insurance sector. 10 Country statistics from Paraguay show that while women have a high rate of participation in financial co-operatives, only 31 per cent of them are in leadership positions. In terms of women's leadership, the studies (Majurin, 2012, Wanyama, 2014) have shown that women's presence on financial co-operative boards ranges from 24 per cent (Kenya) to 65 per cent (Tanzania), with a regional average of 44 per cent.

The literature reveals a general rise in women's participation in financial cooperatives along with women's access to financial resources, which is critically important to their economic futures. High percentages of women are also participating in micro credit schemes and smaller savings co-operatives, and in smaller rural areas in Africa, SACCOS are supporting women in agriculture cooperatives with small amounts of money (Alliance, 2015a; ILO COOP Africa, 2012; FAO, 2012a). This growing participation of women in financial cooperatives at the micro level has not translated into more participation and leadership by women in the larger financial co-operatives. Leadership positions for women in financial co-operatives continue to be lacking, barring women from fully participating in important decision-making processes.

Women in financial co-operatives case studies

Vancity Credit Union - Canada

Vancity is Canada's largest community credit union, with \$18.6 billion in assets, 59 branches and more than 509,000 members on the west coast of Canada. It is a credit union open to anyone who lives in this region. Vancity lives and breathes

¹⁰ For more information, see http://www.icmif.org.

the values of cooperation, equality, and social justice through values-based banking.

From its early days, Vancity has been promoting women. The very first loan was to a young woman for \$100—a bold decision back in 1946 when lending money to women was relatively uncommon. Even if she had an income, banks deemed it too unstable because she was expected to quit work to have children and pursue an at-home career. Over the years Vancity has continued to support women: offering mortgages without a male co-signer in 1961, adding strong female voices to the board in the 1980s, and valuing the effective female leadership they boast today. For example, Vancity has more women in management positions than the industry average: 65 per cent of management, 41 per cent of senior management, and 66 per cent of Vancity's Board of Directors are women.

Vancity has progressive policies around giving loans and helping to finance women entrepreneurs. For example, 36 per cent of women entrepreneurs are in the region Vancity operates — the second highest rate in Canada. Women entrepreneurs are one of the fastest growing segments of the Canadian economy and represent a growing economic force. Vancity looks for ways to help women entrepreneurs leverage financing to build capacity, opportunities, and economic independence.

Vancity recognises and truly appreciates the important voice, perspective, and role that women play in building communities and economies.

(Adapted from Vancity's website: https://www.vancity.com/)

Community Savings and Investment Promotion Co-operative Union (COMSIP) -- Malawi

COMSIP co-operatives have been experiencing a steady growth in recent years. Currently they have a total of 1,949 individual members. The Union's mission is to "deliver flexible savings and investment products and services to economically empower Malawians to improve their livelihoods through member owned savings and investment co-operatives."

COMSIP co-operative members experience several benefits through their membership, such as having the opportunity to access loans at a lower interest rate than that required by microfinance institutions, to buy farming inputs, and to set up a new business. They have also had the possibility to improve their family's well-being through buying food, improving their shelter, and sending their children to school. Financial literacy and management training are also available.

COMSIP co-operatives are established in rural and peri-urban areas where traditional savings and credit co-operatives (SACCOs) are usually not active. Members belong to the same community and experience similar levels of poverty. They are usually involved in subsistence farming and small individual businesses. Members buy shares and deposit savings in their co-operative and in return they can access loans and other services provided by the COMSIP co-operative union.

Services provided to affiliated COMSIP co-operatives are mainly aimed at capacity building, especially related to the development of savings' capacities, training in business management, and value addition to products and services.

It has been evidenced in Malawi that the more women involved in credit unions, the more credit unions are sustainable. Women members have proven to be more committed and loyal than their fellow male co-operators. It appears to be a crucial strategy for the Malawian co-operative movement, making it possible to both strengthen the co-operative business and increase household wellbeing and women's empowerment – all of which are crucial development goals.

Where COMSIP's capacity building has been effective and members have generated profitable businesses, the membership has been more committed to the co-operative. Furthermore, successful members have been a driver for membership growth, since people from the community are more motivated to join the co-operative when they see successful experiences. In this respect, an important driver of membership growth has been the participation of women. Women who engage with COMSIP co-operatives usually invest loans in their own small businesses. Their engagement with the co-operative has significantly increased household wellbeing, and many women members report a change in household relations, with husbands becoming more favourable to women's participation in the co-operative. Women's participation is also leading to increased representation in decision-making positions. In the Union board, women constitute over 30 per cent of the membership.

(Adapted from Vicari, 2013 and Vicari and Borda-Rodriguez, 2014: https://coopseurope.coop/development/sites/default/files/building-resilience-in-malawian-co-operative-movement.pdf)

Women and consumer co-operatives

For the purposes of this study the term *consumer co-operatives* covers a range services, from health and home care, to retail, travel, and other services. The term *consumer co-operative* can also include worker, producer, and multistakeholder types of co-operatives. For the purposes of this sectoral analysis consumer co-operative will predominantly refer to the umbrella term for the sector, but will also sometimes refer to the co-operative form.

Economic rights and access to finance

Within the consumer co-operative sector the major trends emerging regarding women's participation, empowerment, and equality concern the vast numbers of women who are co-operative members for buying purposes, for example, in Japan, where consumer co-operative members are overwhelmingly women (95 per cent), and the opportunities that women-only co-operatives provide for women in countries in which women's freedoms are constrained, for example, Palestinian women making up 59 per cent of the handicraft co-operative members in the West Bank (ILO, 2009b). These types of co-operatives can offer protection to women working in highly vulnerable sectors within developed and developing countries (e.g. domestic workers and textile workers). In developing

countries, women's co-operatives often produce handicrafts and textiles, industries that are labour intensive, low yielding, and often low in economic benefits to women.

Statistics gathered from Central and South America show women in Paraguay accounting for 22.7 per cent of service co-operatives' members, 50.7 per cent of housing co-operative members, and 14.8 per cent of all health co-operative members. In the overarching category of service co-operatives (service, production, and special services) in Guatemala, women made up 70.6 per cent of the members (Alliance, 2012). In Venezuela, women make up 61.8 per cent of the commercial/hotel co-operatives and 10.8 per cent of social services co-operatives (Alliance, 2004). In developed countries, women's co-operatives can translate into much higher economic yields. In Italy, according to ANCPL-Legacoop, the presence of women in worker co-operatives in the fashion industry is 95 per cent. An example of this is the co-operative Stienta CAPA (Rovigo), with approximately 100 member-workers and an annual turnover of more than three million Euros (Luengo, 2011).

In Brazil, women's textile co-operatives have joined forces to take on larger contracts. Justa Trama is a network of Brazilian co-operatives, businesses, and local artisans who banded together to be able to control the whole supply chain to produce their products. These actions have curtailed the exploitative nature of investor-owned corporations in this textile industry and have increased Justa Trama's productivity and profits. The collective now has contracts with European buyers (Fox, 2010). This type of action is known as co-operative integration and allows co-operatives and other like-minded businesses and organisations to work in solidarity with one another.

Social, cultural, and legal rights

Co-operatives assist women in countries in which women are traditionally unable to participate in the work force by introducing and enforcing a gender equitable value system. For example, in the Arab States and Sri Lanka, women-only cooperatives are being formed to further women's access to economic opportunities and increase social inclusion (Wanyama, 2014). Membership in Palestinian co-operatives has traditionally been male dominated – out of the 461 registered in 2009 in the West Bank, only 101 have women members (ILO, 2009b). Most of the women's co-operatives were established after 2000 as a result of externally motivated factors, including donors' funding priorities toward co-operative development. These co-operatives are predominantly financial and handicrafts co-operatives. The majority of co-operatives in the Occupied Palestinian Territories are agricultural co-operatives, with women making up only 5 per cent of the membership, and the rest of the co-operatives are classified as service co-operatives (handicrafts and services) with women accounting for 23 per cent of the consumer co-operative membership (only 6 per cent of services) (ILO, 2009b).

Domestic workers are some of the most marginalised workers around the world. More than 80 per cent of the estimated 50 million domestic workers worldwide

are women. (ILO, 2014a). In the Middle East, more than 2 million domestic workers work within a particularly isolating environment. Most of them are migrants, tied to individual sponsors under the *kafala* system; typically "live-in" with no say in their contractual arrangements or working conditions. Restricted freedom of movement and cultural and linguistic barriers all compound their isolation, limiting their social interaction and integration (ILO, 2014a). Cooperatives and co-operative-like structures can help increase domestic workers' ability to gain safe, secure working conditions and fair wages, as is the case with New York worker co-operative Sí Se Puede that advocates for fair wages for house cleaners (Sí Se Puede, 2013).

Organisational participation and leadership

Within the women-dominated consumer co-operative sector, women are more likely to have leadership opportunities, such is the case with Seikatsu Club Consumer Co-operative in Japan, which has over 80 per cent women board members – but this is not necessarily a given. Many consumer co-operatives are mixed and continue to be predominantly driven by male decision-making while women constitute the workforce. The literature also shows that there were certain areas of leadership that have more women participating. For example, it was noted in Paraguay, that while women's co-operative leadership was under parity, gender parity was almost achieved in the education committees of co-operatives.

Women in consumer co-operatives case studies

Tomurcuk kooperatifi -- Care Co-operatives for Developmentally Delayed Children - Turkey

Women's co-operatives in Turkey have been on the rise in the past two decades. They emerged as a direct response to women's issues as well as crisis, such as the Izmit earthquake in 1999. They directly involve women as the creators, designers, workers, managers, and governors of their own enterprises. Turkish women have chosen the co-operative model because it allows them to inhabit all of these roles.

There are a number of motivations for women to found women's co-operatives. First and most importantly, they help provide local women with employment opportunities that would give them a chance to attain some level of economic freedom and to stop exploitation of home-based workers. The second reason, which is related to income generation, is to empower women. A third motivation is to produce goods and services for a number of targeted audiences including for the public, tourists, and the community (e.g. pastries, olive oil, milk, and handicrafts), for women in the community (e.g., training, hubs for networking, and childcare), and for children (e.g. early childhood learning centres). Often specific goods or services are offered because founder-members have noticed a gap in the community resources or a niche market.

Co-operatives like Tomurcuk are a perfect example of women converging on an issue and collaborating to take advantage of a gap in services or an opportunity. There was a need in the community for an early childhood learning centre specifically for developmentally delayed children. Mothers in the community

came together to pool their limited resources – human and financial – to create a centre where their children could benefit from the best possible nurturing, learning, and care environment. They turned to the co-operative model because it allowed them the flexibility of membership, ability to access funding, and expression of grassroots activism through social and economic organising. The government provides limited funding for the support of learning centres dedicated to the advancement and care of children with learning challenges, which the mothers and centre staff have been able to capitalise on.

Women's co-operatives are different from other types of co-operatives in Turkey in a number of ways. They are grassroots organisations, employing a bottom-up approach to start-up, operations, management, governance, and membership. Like other co-operatives, they are driven by their membership, but are specifically made for women, by women. The Tomurcuk kooperatifi is an example of women's grassroots organising in the economic sphere for social purposes.

http://www.tomurcukkooperatifi.org/

(Adapted from Duguid, Durutas and Wodzici, forthcoming)

Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative – USA

Due to a lack of labour laws that apply to homecare workers, nannies (a majority of whom are immigrant newcomers) are a frequently exploited labour force. The Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative in Sunset Park, Brooklyn, New York was established to create a safe and profitable working environment for women who had previously experienced wage theft and isolation while working in private homes. Through the co-operative the women get better jobs, fair wages, and flexibility in their work. Their contracts have respectful hours, vacation time, and benefits that they would not have as individuals. The Center for Family Life's Co-operative Development Program helped establish the Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative in 2008. The Center has assisted with other co-operatives in the area, including their first successful co-operative, Sí Se Puede! in 2006, for domestic workers. Sí Se Puede! has gone on to help other groups establish co-operatives.

The founding members, 19 immigrant women from the Sunset Park, Brooklyn neighbourhood, went through an eight-week co-operative training program that taught the women about running a business and childcare. They received further training on nannying and nutrition through the Cornell University Labor Institute, as well as an ESL curriculum that was especially designed for the Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative. The Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative has expanded to 42 members.

At the Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative all the publicity for the co-operative is done collectively. Each member is required to do three hours of marketing work per month. The women hand out flyers, write blogs, go to street fairs, and engage in other methods of outreach to find new clients. This collective work brings in more potential employment, and all members of the co-operative have equal access to any interviews and jobs.

One Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative member spoke about how her life had changed: "My life has changed completely. Before I worked 8 – 10 hours in a supermarket for minimum wage. Now I can earn in two days what I used to in a week. It's been fabulous. I've grown and learned more and more...I think big now. I think about the future. Maybe when I retire I will start my own daycare, and I can help other people form co-operatives and think big about the future."

Along with receiving business, childcare, and language training, the Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative members also participate in advocacy work supporting bills that would help support worker co-operatives and in high-level councils and tribunals to advance the work of co-operatives.

http://beyondcare.coop/

(Adapted from: Beyond Care Coop website, A Co-op Story, the Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative from The Laura Flanders Show, and Bransburg, 2011)

Summary of and findings from the sectoral analysis

From this brief analysis of three major co-operative sectors it can be seen that while different issues affect women within each of the co-operative sectors, there are overarching and interrelated factors that inhibit women in all sectors, including: lack of access to financial resources; lack of leadership opportunities; lack of access to means of production, land, and labour; and more generally being disadvantaged in the labour market due to systemic discrimination and barriers towards women that result in women being over-represented in the informal, low paying, and unpaid sectors of the economy (e.g., domestic work, handicraft production, childcare, homecare, and unpaid agricultural work).

Within the agricultural co-operative sector, women's share in membership remains small, yet they are a large part of the labour force, as both family workers and waged workers, making them the majority within the agricultural labour force in many countries. Challenges to women in agriculture include: access to land, and their limited access to inputs, seeds, credits, financial support, and extension services. This unequal access to credit puts women farmers at an enormous disadvantage with regards to their ability to invest, operate to scale, and benefit from new economic opportunities. Agricultural cooperatives can therefore help close the gender gap by advocating for reforms to policies and legislation that prevent women from owning or accessing land; increase women's capacity through business and management training enabling women to participate in decision-making and in management-level work; and increase women's access to agricultural inputs and other assets, e.g. knowledge, information, etc., through cooperation among co-operatives. There is a great potential for poverty reduction through supporting women farmers who - with policy changes that increase understanding of the importance of equitable gender relations and facilitate women's access to resources, and assistance from co-operatives that create opportunities for women's participation, women's leadership and training, and access to markets (FAO, 2012a) - can increase agricultural production.

Women's participation in financial co-operatives is on the rise, giving women more access to financial resources. Quite often women involved in agricultural or other co-operatives are also members of financial co-operatives or SACCOs, but women's involvement in financial co-operatives overall is still at the lower end of the spectrum of participation. As in other co-operative sectors, leadership positions and decision-making roles for women in financial co-operatives continue to fall under gender parity.

The consumer co-operative sector provides opportunities and supports some of the most vulnerable women, but at the same time continues to struggle with creating more economic opportunities for women in areas that are typically undervalued – domestic services, handicrafts, and childcare. These consumer co-operatives are often a way for women to access less expensive food or services, or to earn a small income through textile and handicraft production. Women are still on the outskirts of co-operative industries with larger economic

potential unless they are able to integrate across supply chains as in the case of Brazil's Justa Trama. Consumer co-operatives, because they have more womenonly co-operatives within these less economically powerful sectors (e.g., domestic work and childcare), tend to offer more leadership opportunities for women.

Practical publications

This section looks at the types of practical publications, including manuals, guidebooks, and other documents on women's empowerment and gender equality that co-operatives are producing and using to inform and train members and leaders (See Appendix A). The goals of this section are to: 1) gain a better understanding of the amount and types of gender equality and women's empowerment training materials that are available to co-operatives and, 2) if possible, to assess the outcomes from the trainings. The practical publications have been entered into a table along with key information about the type of publication and its audience and goals (See Appendix A). Due to the limitations of language, the researchers were better able to access practical publications in English, French, and Spanish; however, all co-operative websites in all languages available were translated using Google Translate in order to search for the key terms of "women", "gender", "gender equality", and "women's empowerment". The second goal, to assess the outcomes from the trainings, also proved challenging as co-operatives were more likely to share that they had completed trainings or were offering trainings, but little was revealed in relation to how these trainings may have affected the organisation and its members.

A broad search of the literature available online, including thorough searches of all International Co-operative Alliance member sites (with the exception of sites not in English, French, or Spanish), university and institutional databases, and expansive Internet searches, did not result in a great number of practical publications. There were a total of 18 documents that fell within the scope of this research study. Of the 18 documents, 10 were classified as training manuals and curriculum and the other 8 were classified as guides. The training manuals and curriculum typically were laid out in learning modules, designed for workshops and facilitated learning. The guides could be used both as learning tools for workshops or seminars, but were also designed for individual learning. The target audiences ranged from government and international development agencies to the leadership and staff within organisations (who would be trained as trainers of other members), to board members, and to women members specifically. Three of the manuals and guides were designed for members of agricultural cooperatives and farming communities and one was specifically about women's access to finances. The practical publications were mostly in English (11), but there were also Spanish guides (4) available and one French manual. The publications were produced between 1998 and 2015 with the oldest being the French manual by ACOPAM and the newest by the Alliance. Most of the publications were from 2008 or later.

There were two practical publications that came up repeatedly, one was the Leadership Training Manual for Women Leaders in Co-operatives (ILO, 2005) and the other was the Resource Guide for Advanced Training of Co-operatives

on Entrepreneurship Development of Women and Gender Equality (Alliance, 2015). In addition, another popular resource is My.COOP which offers online training for managing agricultural co-operatives through the ILO and partners (ITC-ILO, 2012.; FAO et al, 2012). The manuals from high-level institutions, such as the first two by the International Labour Office and the International Co-operative Alliance Asia and Pacific appear to be disseminated widely among co-operative organisations and adapted for local contexts. The ILO has published another document entitled Business Formation Guide, which aims to support women and men to use the organisational structure that is appropriate for them (Majurin, 2008). The FAO also has published over the years SEAGA (Socioeconomic and gender analysis), which is done in partnership with the ILO, World Bank, and UNDP. One such practical publication is The Field Level Handbook (2001), which contains extensive information intended for development agents who work with local communities to support the development of their community.

Other popular sources of practical publications were from larger co-operatives out of Spain, including *Manual de Liderazgo Para Las Mujeres* (Concepción Isabel Romero Prieto/CENECOOP R.L., 2006), *Guía para la elaborción de planes de igualdad en las cooperativas de trabajo* (COCETA, 2008), *Igualdad y RSE: Guía para las cooperativas* (AMECOOP, 2009), and *Guía para la implantación de medidas de igualdad en las cooperativas* (Elkar Ikertegia S. Coop, 2009). These guides deal with a range of gender equality issues and practices from implementing overarching gender policy through organisational leadership to training members on gender equality labour practices.

There were a number of gender equality and gender mainstreaming guides that although not developed by the co-operative sector, nor specifically intended for the co-operative sector - are nevertheless strong potential resources for cooperative members. UKAid, GIZ (German Department for International Development), and BMZ (German Federal Ministry of Economic Cooperation and Development) (2012) collaborated on the toolkit Promoting Women's Financial Inclusion, which is directed at government level projects and international development agencies. This toolkit makes frequent reference to women and cooperatives and women's co-operatives as a means to promote women's financial inclusion. The WIEGO guide (WIEGO, 2010) is intended for informal workers (predominantly women) to assist them in organising their work, which may or may not involve forming a co-operative. The CARE training manual (CARE, 2014) provides more of a general gender equality learning module (although developed for the Indian context) and the UNDP guide (UNDP, 2007) is for those working with energy and the environment. Either of these guides could inform gender equality training in the co-operative context. Finally, ACDI/VOCI's farmers' curriculum (ACDI/VOCA, 2010), while specific to Kenya, provides a

_

¹¹ The Resource Guide for Advanced Training of Co-operatives on Eentrepreneurship Development of Women and Gender Equality produced by the Alliance Asia and Pacific office is intended to be an update of the 2005 ILO publication.

learning framework for gender equality in agriculture that could be adapted by agricultural co-operatives in different national contexts.

The goals of the training manuals and guides range from the general aim of raising awareness and understanding about gender equality among co-operative members, e.g. "to promote gender equality in worker co-operatives" (COCETA, 2008), to more specific outcomes, such as "developing entrepreneurial skills and attitudes among women farmers" (FAO et al., 2004). Some of the practical publications were also context specific, e.g. the FAO training manual (2004) developed for women farmers in Thailand and the ACDI/VOCI (2010) curriculum designed for farmers in Kenya. The commonality among all the practical publications was to ensure that participants and learners gained a deeper understanding and sensitivity towards gender within their organisations, were able to use tools that assisted them in analysing situations from a gender perspective, and could develop gender equality policies and practices for their organisations.

While very few co-operatives posted practical publications on their websites, many mentioned participation of members in gender equality trainings in their newsletters, annual reports, and upcoming events sections of their websites. Gender equality was frequently mentioned as part of a discrete policy adopted by the co-operative and most often under the umbrella of the broader co-operative values and principles.

"The commonality...was to ensure that participants and learners gained a deeper understanding and sensitivity towards gender within their organisations"

Summary of and findings from the survey of practical publications

The most common finding was that most co-operatives only mention gender equality in connection to the overarching Co-operative Principles. Co-operatives are more likely to post announcements that they have held a training (workshop, seminar, or conference), but less likely to post a resource or share results from those trainings on their websites.

There were relatively few in-depth training manuals in circulation, although of course such practical publications may and do exist and are buried within the confines of projects and other institutional documents or are only available in hard copy. The two manuals (English-language, also available in other languages) that appeared most in searches were from the ILO (2005) and the Alliance (2015c), the latter building on attempts to update the ILO's 2005 manual. A system for tracking the up-take of these training resources and for evaluating outcomes – immediate, short-term, and long-term – would help assess the value of the resources to the wider co-operative community and help determine ongoing training and learning needs with regards to gender equality within the sector.

Even though few resources specific to co-operatives were accessible through the online search, many non-co-operative-based gender equality and gender mainstreaming learning materials were found that could either be used in lieu of co-operative-based materials or used to develop learning materials for co-operative contexts.

Summary of findings and action oriented recommendations

This study of co-operatives' contributions towards women's empowerment and gender equality looked at a wide array of literature from the academic and organisational spheres of research as well as at publications of a more practical nature. Through the process of analysing these documents a number of key findings came to the fore. This section highlights the salient issues that are repeated within the literature and offers action-oriented recommendations related to the key findings. The findings and the recommendations are presented based on clusters that have also emerged – policy, operations, women's capacity, and research needs – and integrate the findings and recommendations from Phase I of this study. An action-oriented recommendations table follows the discussion on findings and recommendations, which includes the target audience, as well as short-, medium- and long-term timeframes. Please see Appendix B.

Policy and legislation

As stated in the Phase I study and reiterated in the literature, co-operatives are supporting gender equality and women's empowerment; however, the potential to extend and expand this support is present. External challenges including state policies and laws, and social and cultural norms create barriers to women's full engagement in co-operatives or gender equality being actualised.

1. Recommendation: To work to overcome cultural and structural barriers for women.

Supporting women farmers can potentially succeed in significantly reducing poverty. Currently, women's unequal access to resources such as land and credit puts them at an enormous disadvantage with regards to their ability to invest, operate to scale, and benefit from new economic opportunities. Government support for women farmers at the federal, state, and municipal levels can address challenges to women in agriculture accessing land agricultural inputs: seeds, credits, financial support, and extension services.

- 2. Recommendation: To create enabling environments that allow women farmers to create their own co-operatives.
- 3. Recommendation: To advocate on behalf of women in countries in which land laws and the practice of distributing agricultural-related resources discriminate against women.

Operations

Many co-operatives only mention gender equality in connection to the overarching Co-operative Principles.

1. Recommendation: Co-operatives can work to address gender equality and women's empowerment by setting gender equality strategies or gender equality plans of action. Tracking and measurement mechanisms need to be in place to capture progress on commitments to action.

Women in emerging and marginalised co-operatives, especially in the majority world, but also within newcomer, racialised, and other potentially vulnerable populations in developed contexts, are less likely to have financial and technical support for enterprises.

2. Recommendation: To provide women in emerging and marginalised cooperatives with financial and technical support.

Women's participation in financial co-operatives is on the rise, giving women more access to financial resources. At the same time, leadership positions and decision-making roles for women in financial co-operatives continue to be far under gender parity.

- 3. Recommendation: The co-operative sector's institutional leaders will model gender parity and require members to meet and exceed co-operative/industry standards through policies and awareness-raising.
- 4. Recommendation: To assist women in under-valued areas of the consumer co-operative sector to gain more control over production and increased access to economic benefits by supporting women's cooperative integration across supply chains.

The consumer co-operative sector provides support and potential viable employment to some of the most vulnerable women; however, these economic opportunities tend to be in the most undervalued and exploited sectors – domestic services, handicrafts, and childcare.

 Recommendation: To support the development of women's cooperatives. This includes start-up funding; training on co-operative business governance, management and operations; and awareness building for the potential supportive infrastructure (e.g. financial sector, public officials, lawyers, accountants, funders, and women's organisations).

Women's capacities

Women in emerging and marginalised co-operatives, especially in the majority world, but also within newcomer, minority, and other potentially vulnerable

populations in developed contexts are, in comparison to their male counterparts, more likely to have less access to: education; training in business or management; and supports in the form of tools and resources. Relatedly, women in these contexts have lower self-esteem and lower perceived self-efficacy in relation to achieving their employment goals.

1. Recommendation: To develop and implement gender equality strategies, tools, and resources more broadly to facilitate the equal participation of women throughout the co-operative movement.

While women have been able to shift into some leadership positions within cooperatives, especially with the rise of women's co-operatives, studies show that women are still poorly represented within co-operative leadership positions and decision-making structures.

- 2. Recommendation: Continue to support women's co-operatives including leadership training in governance, management, and operations.
- 3. Recommendation: Support policies, programmes, and active interventions to support women to be in leadership positions in cooperatives and for their voices to be heard within the co-operative.

There are relatively few in-depth training manuals in circulation. The two most popular English-language manuals (also available in other languages) were from the ILO (2005) and the Alliance (2015c). A system for tracking the up-take of these training resources and for evaluating outcomes – immediate, short-term, and long-term – would help assess the value of the resources to the wider cooperative community and help determine ongoing training and learning needs with regards to gender equality within the sector.

4. Recommendation: The distribution and implementation of training manuals and guides need to be better tracked and evaluated.

There are many non-co-operative-based gender equality and gender mainstreaming learning materials that could either be used in lieu of co-operative-based materials or used to develop learning materials for co-operative contexts.

5. Recommendation: Adapt non-co-operative gender equality and gender mainstreaming learning materials to make them co-operative specific for the purposes of establishing and running new co-operatives and growing existing co-operatives.

Co-operatives are more likely to post announcements on their website that they have held a training (workshop, seminar, or conference), but less likely to post a resource or share results from those trainings.

6. Recommendation: Co-operative members need to be encouraged to post the results of and feedback on their trainings both on their own websites and possibly to a centralised repository, which would include

practical publications, support for developing and designing individualised learning strategies, and the capacity for learning to be shared and tracked. This will support accessibility for all co-operatives. Further primary data collection and analytical research can build on the shared data enabling the on-going assessment of gender equality and women's empowerment needs of co-operatives.

Research needs

The literature on co-operatives and women is diverse in terms of discipline, intended audience, and the resource location. It is diverse in terms of sector and type of co-operative and investigations into urban and rural areas. However, the literature directly on the topic of co-operatives and women is not extensive, saturated in some areas (e.g. case studies and challenges), and in need of further exploration to fill the gap in terms of understanding co-operatives, women's empowerment, and gender equality. While the research institutions play the main role for many of these recommendations, there are actions that other target audiences can take up.

There is a lack of academic interest in the role of co-operatives in gender equality and women's empowerment in key disciplines such as labour studies, business administration, and economics. This coincides with the omission of co-operatives as economic entities, businesses, and enterprises in this literature in general.

Recommendation: To engage in further research directly related to cooperatives and their support for gender equality and women's economic empowerment.

There is a lack of universal and/or standardised data about women and cooperatives. Without routinely collected sex-disaggregated data based on indicators reflecting women's empowerment and gender equality – even the basics, such as number of female board members, number of female members, number of females employees, or number of females in leadership positions – it is difficult to grasp the complete picture of the individual co-operative, sector, geographical jurisdiction, or the co-operative movement as mechanisms for supporting women's agency, empowerment, and gender equality. Additional gender indicators such as time use, paid and unpaid work, and wage differences are also valuable to understanding co-operatives' role in gender equality and women's empowerment. Without disaggregated gender data there can be no baseline from which to gauge success or areas that need improvement, no forecasting towards a gender equal future, and no benchmarking trends towards improved gender equality and women's empowerment.

2. Recommendation: To collect annual, standardised disaggregated data about women and co-operatives around the globe.

Despite there being great numbers of case studies, overall there are very few empirically-based research studies looking into how women's co-operatives or

women and co-operatives are improving gender equality or supporting women's empowerment. Other sectors or organisational structures have used indexes, standardised tools, indicators and/or social or economic yardsticks to concretely measure the impact in terms of gender equality or women's empowerment. Co-operatives and/or co-operative researchers have not done this as of yet. As such, there is an overall gap in the understanding of women's empowerment and gender equality issues within the co-operative sector.

 Recommendation: Develop a set of indices, standardised tools, indicators and/or social or economic yardsticks, based on the challenges faced by women in the co-operative sector, to concretely measure impact in terms of gender equality or women's empowerment.

There is an abundance of information on the challenges that co-operatives and women face regarding gender equality and women's empowerment. The challenges most often encountered are: lack of gender equality in society; lack of gender equality within co-operatives; financial issues, including access to own and family finances; lack of training/capacity on and inclusion in business management and operations; lack of women's capacity with regards to opportunities for education or training; state policies such as land ownership and inheritance laws that exclude women; and external factors such as extreme poverty.

As the findings of the first phase of the research shows, the number of women turning to the co-operative model to found and operationalise women's co-operatives around the world is growing. Although there are no hard numbers for the total number of women's co-operatives, nor indicators for women's empowerment being collected specifically for women's co-operatives, there is a stream of case studies looking at individual and small clusters of women's co-operatives typically within individualised micro-contexts.

4. Recommendation: That a study be conducted specifically looking at the emerging women's co-operative sector around the world in order to obtain overall numbers of women participating, information about profiling women's co-operatives, women members, employees, salaries, and patronage. In addition, the collection of standardised indicators from women's co-operatives on women's empowerment and impact, would assist greatly in understanding the broader picture of how co-operatives support women.

The research comparing co-operatives to co-operatives in terms of gender equality or women's empowerment is scant. The research comparing co-operatives to other organisational structures is almost non-existent. This type of research is critical to generating recognition of and for co-operatives and for understanding the co-operative difference.

The case studies are from academia and organisations and often focus on individual co-operatives, but also whole sectors and geographical regions. The majority of case studies are about women and co-operatives in the developing

world. All case studies address impact and challenges for women and cooperatives in some manner.

5. Recommendation: That research is conducted to compare cooperatives to co-operatives and to other organisational structures specifically looking at standardised indicators for gender equality and women's empowerment.

Looking across these key findings, it can be surmised that given the right environment and support, co-operatives can play a major role in promoting and achieving gender equality and women's empowerment. Examples of co-operatives with good gender equality policies do exist, but the literature shows that women are still feeling the impact of gender inequality in terms of participation, leadership, and access. Women's co-operatives face a similar situation in that many of them are supportive of women's empowerment, but societal challenges of gender norms in particular contexts can erode or undermine progressive gender practices within co-operatives.

Bibliography

- Please note that this is a bibliography of women's empowerment, gender equality, and co-operatives in general. Not all the sources listed below have been referenced in the body of the report.
- ACDI/VOCA, 2010. Farming as a Family Business Brings Women into the Equation, ACDI/VOCA. Available at:
 - http://acdivoca.org/sites/default/files/attach/legacy/site/Lookup/WRspring10_Farming_as_a_Family_Business_Brings_Women_into_the_Equation/\$file/WRspring10_Farming_as_a_Family_Business_Brings_Women_into_the_Equation.pdf.
- Agarwal, B., 2009. Does Women's Proportional Strength Affect their Participation? Governing Local Forests in South Asia. *World Development*, 38(1), pp.98–112.
- Aguilar, N.M., 2011. Estrategia de impulso al modelo cooperativo entre mujeres, ACI Americas, Comité Regional de Equidad de Género CREG. Available at:

 http://www.aciamericas.coop/IMG/pdf/estrategiamodelocoopmujeres.pdf.
- Alliance, 2015a. Empowering women through their own SACCOS. *Co-operative Enterprises Build a Better World*. Available at: http://ica.coop/en/media/co-operative-stories/empowering-women-through-their-own-saccos.
- Alliance, 2015b. *Guidance Notes to the Co-operative Principles*, International Co-operative Alliance. Available at: http://ica.coop/sites/default/files/attachments/Guidance%20Notes%20EN.pdf.
- Alliance Asia and Pacific, 2015. Resource Guide for Advanced Training of Co-operatives on Entrepreneurship Development of Women and Gender Equality, Brussels, Belgium: International Co-operative Alliance. Available at:

 http://ica.coop/sites/default/files/media_items/ICA%20Asia%20Pacific%20-%20Resource%20Guide.pdf.
- Al Madmouj, R., 2012. *ILO Initiatives Promoting Women's Participation in Cooperatives in oPt (2009 2012)*, Ramallah / Jerusalem, Israel: ILO. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---arabstates/---ro-beirut/documents/publication/wcms 195164.pdf.
- Alonso, M.Á.S., 2014. Estudio Regional: Igualdad de género en PYMES y Cooperativas, UNDP / Goberno de España. Available at: http://www.apega.org/attachments/article/1024/igualdad_genero_pymes_cooperativas.pdf.
- AMECOOP, 2009. *Igualdad y RSE: Guía para las cooperativas*, Spain: AMECOOP. Available at: http://www.amecoop-andalucia.org/guia-rse/.
- Ampaire, E., Machethe, C. & Birachi, E., 2013. Rural producer organizations and poverty reduction in Uganda: are there gender disparities in the distribution of membership benefits? *Journal of Rural Cooperation*, 41(1), pp.60–79.
- Anisykurlillah, I. & Latifah, L., 2014. A Model of Women Co-operative Empowerment in Improving Community Welfare. *International Journal of Business, Economics and Law*, 5(1), pp.139–144. Available at: http://ijbel.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/ACC-53-A-Model-of-Women-Co-operative-Empowerment-In-Improving-Community-Welfare.pdf.
- Aris, G., 2013. Challenging Barriers to Women's Leadership in Co-operatives. Available at: https://agrilinks.org/library/challenging-barriers-women%E2%80%99s-leadership-co-operatives.

- ASEAN Foundation, 2008. Empowering Women: Building Capacity in Entrepreneurship and Cooperatives, Jakarta, Indonesia: ASEAN Foundation. Available at: http://www.aseanfoundation.org/documents/brochure/Rev-Empower01092008_conv.pdf.
- Babalola, D., Bajimi, O. & Isitor, S., 2015. Economic Potentials of Fish Marketing and Women Empowerment in Nigeria: Evidence from Ogun State. *African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development (AJFAND)*, 15(2), p.13. Available at: http://www.ajfand.net/Volume15/No2/Akinola13960.pdf.
- Baden, S., 2013. Women's collective action in African agricultural markets: the limits of current development practice for rural women's empowerment. *Gender & Development*, 21(2), pp.295–311.
- Bartra, E., 2003. Engendering Clay: Women Potters of Mata Ortiz. In E. Bartra, ed. *Crafting Gender: Women and Folk Art in Latin America and the Caribbean*. Durham, North Carolina, USA & London, England: Duke University Press, pp. 125–157.
- Bauer, S. et al., 2004. GET Ahead for Women in Enterprise Training Package and Resource Kit. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed-emp/----emp-ent/documents/publication/wcms_116100.pdf.
- Baviskar, B.S., 1988. *Who Shares? Co-operatives and Rural Development* D. W. Attwood, ed., Delhi; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Ben-ner, A. & Ellman, M., 2013. The contributions of behavioural economics to understanding and advancing the sustainability of worker co-operatives. *Journal of Entrepreneurial and Organizational Diversity*, 2(1), pp.75–100.
- Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative, 2008. Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative: Homepage. *Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative*. Available at: http://beyondcare.coop/.
- Bezboruah, K. & Pillai, V., 2015. Exploring the Participation of Women in Financial Co-operatives and Credit Unions in Developing Countries. *VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 26(3), pp.913–940. Available at: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11266-014-9467-9.
- Bibby, A., 2006. *HIV/AIDS and Co-operatives*, Manchester, England: Co-operative College. Available at: http://www.andrewbibby.com/pdf/coop_hiv_aids_booklet.pdf.
- Birchall, J., 2013. The potential of co-operatives during the current recession; theorizing comparative advantage. *Journal of Entrepreneurial and Organizational Diversity*, 2(1), pp.1–22. Available at: http://www.jeodonline.com/sites/jeodonline.com/files/articles/2013/05/09/jeodbirchall-thepotentialofco-operativesduringthecurrentrecession.pdf.
- Birchall, J. & Simmons, R., 2009. *Co-operatives and Poverty Reduction: Evidence from Sri Lanka and Tanzania*, Oldham, England: Co-operative College. Available at: https://www.co-op.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2010/07/Co-operatives-and-Poverty-Reduction.pdf.
- Bonnan-White, J., Hightower, A. & Issa, A., 2013. Of couscous and occupation: a case study of women's motivations to join and participate in Palestinian fair trade co-operatives. *Agriculture and Human Values*, 30(3), pp.337–350.
- Borda-Rodriguez, A. et al., 2016. What Makes Rural Co-operatives Resilient in Developing Countries? *Journal of International Development*, 28, pp.89–111.

- Bransburg, V., 2011. The Center for Family Life: Tackling Poverty and Social Isolation in Brooklyn with Worker Co-operatives. *Grassroots Economic Organizing (GEO) Newsletter*, 2(8). Available at: http://geo.coop/node/636.
- Bridge Development, Routes to Shaping Gender-Just Movements. In *Gender and Social Movements*. Cutting Edge Packs. Available at: http://www.bridge.ids.ac.uk/bridge-publications/cutting-edge-packs/gender-and-social-movements.
- Bruni, L. & Ferro, G., 2015. DOES CO-OPERATIVENESS PROMOTE HAPPINESS? CROSS-COUNTRY EVIDENCE Working Paper no. 107, Money and Finance Research Group.
- Burchi, F. & Vicari, S., 2014. To be or not to be a member of a primary co-operative in Brazil: any difference in household decision making and gender equality? *Oxford Development Studies*, 42(1), pp.343–364. Available at: http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/13600818/v42i0003/343_tbo-ntbihdage.xml.
- CARE, 2014. CARE Gender, Equity, and Diversity Training Materials: Module 4: Gender Training, CARE. Available at: http://www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/Gender%20Equity%20and%20Diversity%20Module%204.pdf.
- Carré, F., Tilly, C. & Bonner, C., 2014. International Informal Worker Organizations: Transforming the World of Unprotected Work. *Perspectives on Work*, 16. Available at: http://www.leraweb.org/publications.
- Castella, J.-C. & Bouahom, B., 2014. Farmer co-operatives are the missing link to meet market demands in Laos. *Development in Practice*, 24(2), pp.185–198.
- Castro Apreza, I., 2003. Contemporary Women's Movement in Chiapas. In C. Eber & C. Kovic, eds. Women of Chiapas: Making History in Times of Struggle and Hope. New York: Routledge, pp. 197–206.
- Castro Apreza, Y., 2003. J'pas Joloviletik-Jolom Mayaetik-K'inal Antzetik: An Organization Experience of Indigenous and Mestiza Women. In C. Eber & C. Kovic, eds. *Women of Chiapas: Making History in Times of Struggle and Hope*. New York: Routledge.
- Centre for Strategical Statistics & Information, 2015. *Satellite Accounts for Co-operatives in I.R. Iran*, Ministry of Co-operative, Labor & Social Welfare.
- Chakravarty, S., Prasad, U. & Jha, A.N., 2014–2015. Enhancing the productivity of Small Scale Women Entrepreneurs and Small Farmers availing Microfinance services through Self-Help Groups The emerging role of Information and Communication Technology (ICT). *American International Journal of Research in Humanities, Arts and Social Sciences*, 9(2), pp.108–109. Available at: http://iasir.net/AIJRHASSpapers/AIJRHASS15-126.pdf.
- Chen, M. et al., 2005. *Progress of the World's Women 2005: Women, Work, and Poverty*, New York, USA: UNIFEM. Available at: http://www.unwomen.org/~/media/Headquarters/Media/Publications/UNIFEM/PoWW2005 eng.pdf.
- Chen, M. & Snodgrass, D., 1999. AN ASSESSMENT OF THE IMPACT OF SEWA BANK IN INDIA: BASELINE FINDINGS, Washington: Management Systems International.

- Chowdry, G., 1995. Women in Development (WID) in International Development Regimes. *Feminism/postmodernism/development*, pp.26–41.
- Chung, B. (Daisy) et al., 2013. Indicators of Women's Empowerment in Developing Nations. In Workshop in International Public Affairs. Madison, Wisconsin, USA: La Follette School of Public Affairs, p. 95.
- Clemente, J. et al., 2012. The wage gap between co-operative and capitalist firms: Evidence from Spain. *Annals of Public and Co-operative Economics*, 83(3), pp.337–356.
- Clugston, C., 2014. The Business Case for Women's Participation in Agricultural Co-operatives: A Case Study of the Manduvira Sugarcane Co-operative, Paraguay, Paraguay: ACDI VOCA.
- COCETA, 2008. *Guia para la elaborción de planes de igualdad en las cooperativas de trabajo*, Spain: COCETA. Available at: http://www.coceta.coop/publicaciones/guia-igualdad-cooperativas.pdf.
- Cohn, P., Carroll, M. & Force, J.E., 2003. So Happy Together or Better Off Alone? Women's Economic Activities, Co-operative Work, and Employment in Rural Paraguay Authors. *Community Development Society*, 34(1), pp.57–74. Available at:

 <a href="http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/00103829/v34i0001/57_shtobowaeirp.xml?q=women%27s+co-operatives&search_in=TITLE&date_from=1990&date_to=2015&sort=date&sub=Arts+and+Humanities%3BBusiness%2C+Economy+and+Management%3BLaw%3BSocial+Sciences%3B.
- Concepción Isabel Romero Prieto / CENECOOP R.L., 2006. *Manual de Liderazgo Para Las Mujeres / Leadership Manual for Women*, CENECOOP. Available at: http://www.cenecoop.com/docs/md/varios/v_07_man_lid_muj.pdf.
- Contreras, J., 2006. Oportunidades financieras para mujeres cooperativistas. Available at: http://www.aciamericas.coop/Oportunidades-financieras-para,999.
- COOPAfrica, 2010. How co-operatives work for women workers Voices from the movement, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.
- COOPAfrica & ILO, 2010. *Promising Practices: How co-operatives work for working women in Africa*, ILO. Available at:
 http://www.ilo.org/public/english/employment/ent/coop/africa/download/women_day_coop.pdf.
- Co-operatives UK, The global co-operative sector. Available at: http://www.uk.coop/2012/economy/worldwide [Accessed July 12, 2015].
- Cornwall, A. & Brock, K., 2005. What Do Buzzwords Do for Development Policy? A Critical Look at "Participation", "Empowerment" and "Poverty Reduction." *Third World Quarterly*, 26(7), pp.1043–1060. Available at: http://www.jstor.org/stable/4017803.
- Cramer, C. et al., 2014. Fairtrade co-operatives in Ethiopia and Uganda: uncensored. *Review of African Political Economy*, 41(1), pp.115–127. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03056244.2014.976192.
- Datta, P.B. & Gailey, R., 2012. Empowering Women Through Social Entrepreneurship: Case Study of a Women's Co-operative in India. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 36(3), pp.569–587. Available at:
 - http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/10422587/v36i0003/569 ewt secoawcii.xml?q=women%27s+co-

- <u>operatives&search_in=TITLE&date_from=1990&date_to=2015&sort=date&sub=Arts+and+Humanities%3BBusiness%2C+Economy+and+Management%3BLaw%3BSocial+Sciences%3B</u>.
- Datta, R., 2003. From Development to Empowerment: The Self-Employed Women's Association in India. *International Journal of Politics, Culture and Society*, 16(3), pp.351–368.
- Daya, S. & Raksha, A., 2012. Self, others and objects in an "alternative economy": Personal narratives from the Heiveld Rooibos Co-operative. *Geoforum*, 45(5).
- Desai, M., 2010. Hope in hard times: Women's empowerment and human development. *Human Development Research Paper*, 14.
- Díaz-Foncea, M. & Marcuello, C., 2014. The Relation between Total Employment and Co-operative Employment: A Convergence and Causality Analysis. *Spatial Economic Analysis*, 9(1), pp.71–92. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17421772.2013.864048.
- Dilley, C., 2011. Women and fair trade coffee production in Nicaragua. *GEOGRAFIA Online Malaysia Journal of Society and Space*, 7(1), pp.76–86. Available at: http://journalarticle.ukm.my/686/1/7.2011-1-dilley-english-3.pdf.
- Doss, C., 2014. Killer fact check: "Women own 2% of land" = not true. What do we really know about women and land? *Oxfam blogs*. Available at: https://oxfamblogs.org/fp2p/killer-factcheck-women-own-2-of-land-not-true-what-do-we-really-know-about-women-and-land/.
- Drobnica, N., 2013. A Co-op Story, the Beyond Care Childcare Co-operative The Laura Flanders Show, Youtube. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3VtDdeX1woQ.
- Duguid, F., Duratas, G. & Wodzicki, M., Forthcoming. *From Surviving to Thriving: Women's Co-operatives in Turkey*, World Bank.
- Eber, C., 2000. That they be in the Middle, Lord. In K. M. Grimes & B. L. Milgram, eds. *Artisans and Cooperatives: Developing Alternative Trade for the Global Economy*. Tucson, Arizona, USA: University of Arizona Press, pp. 45–64.
- Eber, C. & Rosenbaum, B., 1993. That We May Serve Beneath Your Hands and Feet. In J. Nash, ed. *Crafts in the World Market: The Impact of Global Exchange on Middle American Artisans*. Albany, New York, USA: State University of New York Press, pp. 127–154.
- Eccarius-Kelly, V., 2006. Guatemalan Women's Co-operatives and State Neglect. *Peace Review: A Journal of Social Justice*, 18(1), pp.37–43.
- Ehlers, T.B., 1993. Belts, Business, and Bloomingdale's: An Alternative Model for Guatemalan Artisan Development. In J. Nash, ed. *Crafts in the World Market: The Impact of Global Exchange on Middle American Artisans*. Albany, New York, USA: State University of New York Press, pp. 181–198.
- Elkar Ikertegia S. Coop, 2009. *Guía para la implantación de medidas de igualdad en las cooperativas*, Spain: KONFEKOOP. Available at: http://www.konfekoop.coop/fitxategiak/Guia%20de%20implantacion%20de%20medidas%20de%20legualdad%20en%20las%20Coops.pdf.
- Esim, S. & Omeira, M., 2009. Rural women producers and co-operatives in conflicts settings in the Arab States. In *Pathways Out of Poverty*. Workshop on Gaps, trends and current research in gender dimensions of agriculture and rural employment: differentiated pathways out of poverty. Rome, Italy: FAO, IFAD, ILO, p. 28. Available at: http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=i&g=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CB4

- QFjAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.fao-
- <u>ilo.org%2Ffileadmin%2Fuser_upload%2Ffao_ilo%2Fpdf%2FPapers%2F25_March%2FEsim_Fin.pdf</u> &ei=FkaPVd3kDdizyATn-
- <u>bvwCA&usg=AFQjCNGWTYgXoSPzBRkr7655KCH7Dqw1fA&sig2=Lah7ADb9FC5Cw7vnDlbMew&bvm=bv.96783405,d.aWw.</u>
- Eyben, R. & Napier-Moore, R., 2009. Choosing Words with Care? Shifting meanings of women's empowerment in international development. *Third World Quarterly*, 30(2), pp.285–300.
- Fairtrade International, 2015. Sustainable Development Goals and Fairtrade: The case for partnership, Bonn, Germany: Fairtrade International. Available at:

 http://www.fairtrade.net/fileadmin/user_upload/content/2009/resources/15-10 Sustainable Development Report.pdf.
- FAO, 2015. Social protection and agriculture: breaking the cycle of rural poverty, Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available at: http://www.fao.org/publications/sofa/en/.
- FAO, 2012a. *Agriculture co-operatives and gender equality*, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available at: http://www.fao.org/gender-gender-publications/detail/en/c/164720/.
- FAO, 2012b. Co-operatives: Empowering women farmers, improving food security. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available at: http://www.fao.org/gender/gender-home/gender-insight/gender-insight/det/en/c/164572/.
- FAO, 2012c. Good Practices in Building Innovative Rural Institutions to Increase Food Security: Case Studies, Rome, Italy: FAO. Available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/016/ap209e/ap209e.pdf.
- FAO, 2011. Women in Agriculture Closing the gender gap for development, FAO.
- FAO, 2001. SEAGA Socio-Economic and Gender Analysis Programme, FAO. Available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/012/ak214e/ak214e00.pdf.
- FAO, Boros, R. & McLeod, A., 2015. *Empowering women in Afghanistan: Reducing gender gaps through Integrated Dairy Schemes*, Rome, Italy: FAO. Available at: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4585e.pdf.
- FAO, GFAR & IFPRI, 2014. Gender-specific Approaches and Rural Institutions for Improving Access to and Adoption of Technological Innovations, Rome, Italy.
- FAO, Premchander, S. & Prameela, V., 2004. *Promoting rural women's co-operative businesses in Thailand*, Thailand: FAO. Available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/004/ad499e/ad499e00.htm.
- Ferguson, H. & Kepe, T., 2011. Agricultural Co-operatives and social empowerment of women: a Ugandan case study. *Development in Practice*, 21(3).
- Findlay, I. et al., 2013. Through the Eyes of Women What a Co-operative Can Mean in Supporting Women During Confinement and Integration, Saskatchewan, Canada: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan.
- Fish, I., 2015. Domestic workers, collectives, co-operatives some experiences in Asia and lesson learnt, International Domestic Workers Federation. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/beirut/events/WCMS 337106/lang--en/index.htm.
- Fox, M., 2010. South America: Mercosur's Co-operatives in an Age of Integration. *Upside Down World:* Covering Activism and Politics in Latin America. Available at:

- http://upsidedownworld.org/main/international-archives-60/2480-south-america-mercosurs-cooperatives-in-an-age-of-integration.
- Ganem-Cuenca, A., 2011. Gender Equity and Health within Fair Trade Certified Coffee Co-operatives in Nicaragua: Tensions and Challenges. Master of Science. Saskatoon, Saskatchewan: University of Saskatchewan.
- Garnevska, E., Liu, G. & Shadbolt, N., 2011. Farmers for Successful Development of Farmer Cooperatives in Northwest China. *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review*, 14(4). Available at: http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/117603/2/20110028_Formatted.pdf.
- Gebremichael, B., 2014. The Role of Agricultural Co-operatives in Promoting Food Security and Rural Women's Empowerment in Eastern Tigray Region, Ethiopia. *Developing Country Studies*, 4(11). Available at: http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/DCS/article/view/13482.
- Golla, A.M. et al., 2011. *Understanding and Measuring Women's Economic Empowerment: Definition, Framework and Indicators*, International Center for Research on Women (ICRW).
- Grassi, F., Landberg, J. & Huyer, S., 2015. *Running out of time: The reduction of women's work burden in agricultural production*, Rome, Italy: FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available at: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4741e.pdf.
- Grimes, K.M., Democratizing International Production and Trade: North American Trading Organizations. In K. M. Grimes & B. L. Milgram, eds. *Artisans and Co-operatives: Developing Alternative Trade for the Global Economy*. Tucson, Arizona, USA: University of Arizona Press, pp. 11–24.
- Grimes, K.M. & Milgram, B.L., 2000. Introduction: Facing the Challenges of Artisan Production in the Global Market. In K. M. Grimes & B. L. Milgram, eds. *Artisans and Co-operatives: Developing Alternative Trade for the Global Economy*. Tucson, Arizona, USA: University of Arizona Press, pp. 3–10.
- Hagedorn, K., 2014. Post-Socialist farmers' co-operatives in central and eastern Europe. *Annals of Public and Co-operative Economics*, 85(4), pp.555–577.
- Hirway, I. and Lodhia, S., 2007. *Engendering Database in Cooperatives in Asia-Pacific Region.*Ahmedabad: Centre for Development Alternatives.
- Hueth, B. and Reynolds, A. 2014. *The Cooperative Business Study, Summary Results*. Centre for Cooperatives. Madison, University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Ibourk, A. & Amaghouss, J., 2014. The role of NIHD1 in promoting Women Co-operatives in Morocco: a micro econometric Analysis. *Journal of Economics and Business Research*, 2, pp.95–114.
- Ibrahim, S. & Alkire, S., 2007. Agency and Empowerment: A Proposal for Internationally Comparable Indicators. *Oxford development studies*, 35(4), pp.379–403.
- ICMIF, 2011. Women in Leadership Positions, Cheshire, United Kingdom: International Co-operative and Mutual Insurance Federation. Available at: http://www.empowerwomen.org/en/~/documents/2014/12/04/16/49/women-in-leadership-positions.
- ILO, 2015. Women in Business and Management: Gaining Momentum, Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_316450.pdf.

- ILO, 2015a. *Advancing gender equality: The co-operative way*, Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed-emp/---emp-ent/---coop/documents/publication/wcms_379095.pdf.
- ILO, 2015b. Cooperating Out of Isolation: The case of migrant domestic workers in Kuwait, Lebanon, & Jordan, International Labour Organization. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/beirut/WCMS_344646/lang--en/index.htm.
- ILO, 2014b. Co-operative movement engagement in sustainable development and the post-2015 process: Survey findings, Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed-emp/documents/publication/wcms_248497.pdf.
- ILO, 2014c. Domestic Work for Domestic Workers. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/beirut/media-centre/news/WCMS 316824/lang--en/index.htm [Accessed November 4, 2015].
- ILO, 2014d. Fight underway to end gender pay discrimination in Jordanian private education. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/beirut/media-centre/fs/WCMS_312411/lang--en/index.htm [Accessed November 4, 2015].
- ILO, 2014e. Findings of the Assessment of Agricultural Co-operatives in West Bank: Challenges and Opportunities, Beirut, Lebanon: International Labour Organization.
- ILO, 2013. Helping women to help themselves escape poverty in Myanmar. *ILO Newsroom*. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/features/WCMS_215298/lang--en/index.htm [Accessed July 18, 2015].
- ILO, 2012a. Achieving decent work for domestic workers: An organizers manual to promote ILO convention no. 189 and build domestic workers' power, Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed dialogue/---actrav/documents/publication/wcms_181344.pdf.
- ILO, 2012b. *Global Employment Trends for Women 2012*, Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/publication/wcms 195447.pdf.
- ILO, 2009a. Enhancing the Participation of Rural Women Producers in Co-operatives in Yemen, Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization.
- ILO, 2009b. Mainstreaming Gender Equality Concerns in Palestinian Co-operatives, ILO.
- ILO, 2008. Country Brief 1: Advancing Women's Employment in Lebanon: ILO in Action.
- ILO, 2005. Leadership Training Manual for Women Leaders of Co-operatives, International Labour Office. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---sro-new_delhi/documents/projectdocumentation/wcms_125465.pdf.
- ILO, 2000. *Gender! A Partnership of Equals*, Geneva, Switzerland: ILO. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/libdoc/ilo/2000/100B09 59 engl.pdf.
- ILO & Alliance, 1995. *Brief Overview of Gender Issues in Co-operatives: An ILO ICA Perspective ILO ICA Training Package*, ILO, Alliance. Available at: http://www.uwcc.wisc.edu/icic/issues/gender/ilo-ica/overview.html.
- ILO COOP, 2014. Leveraging the co-operative advantage for women's empowerment and gender equality, Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization. Available at:

- http://www.ilo.org/empent/Publications/WCMS_307217/lang--en/index.htm [Accessed November 4, 2015].
- ILO COOP Africa, 2012a. Empower rural women end poverty and hunger: the potential of African cooperatives. Available at:

 http://www.ilo.org/public/english/employment/ent/coop/africa/download/coopafrica_leaflet_iwd2012.p
 df.
- ILO COOP Africa, 2012b. Empower rural women end poverty and hunger: the potential of African cooperatives.
- International Association of Investors in the Social Economy, 2014. An International Alliance with Strengthen the Mediterranean Social and Solidarity Economy. Available at: http://www.inaise.org/?q=en/node/14624 [Accessed July 12, 2014].
- Ip, F., 2015. Domestic workers, collectives, co-operatives some experiences in Asia and lesson learnt, International Domestic Workers Federation. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/beirut/events/WCMS 337106/lang--en/index.htm.
- Isaac, C., 1996. The promotion of women's co-operatives in Mexico: Is feminist technical assistance an Oxymoron? *International Planning Studies*, 1(1), pp.95–119. Available at:

 <a href="http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/13563475/v01i0001/95_tpowciiftaao.xml?q=women%27s+co-operatives&search_in=TITLE&date_from=1990&date_to=2015&sort=date&sub=Arts+and+Humanities%3BBusiness%2C+Economy+and+Management%3BLaw%3BSocial+Sciences%3B.
- Isobel, M.F., 2012. Editorial: Back to the Future? Rebuilding Sustainable Economies and Communities. *Journal of Business & Financial Affairs*.
- ITC-ILO, 2012. My.Coop. My.COOP. Available at: http://moodle.itcilo.org/mycoop/.
- Jain, D. & Chacko, S., 2008. Unfolding Women's Engagement with Development and the UN: Pointers for the Future. In *Forum for Development Studies*. Taylor & Francis, pp. 5–36.
- Johnson, H. & Shaw, L., 2014. Rethinking Rural Co-operatives in Development: Introduction to the policy arena. *Journal of International Development*, 26, pp.668–682.
- Jones, D.C. & Kalmi, P., 2009. Trust, Inequality, and the Size of the Co-operative Sector: Cross-country evidence. *Annals of Public and Co-operative Economics*, 80(2), pp.165–195.
- Jones, E., Smith, S. & Wills, C., 2012. Women producers and the benefit of collective forms of enterprise. *Gender & Development*, 20(1), pp.13–32. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2012.663640
- Kabeer, N., 2005. Gender equality and women's empowerment: A critical analysis of the third millennium development goal 1. *Gender & Development*, 13(1), pp.13–24.
- Kabeer, N., 1999a. Resources, Agency, Achievements: Reflections on the Measurement of Women's Empowerment. *Development and Change*, 30, pp.435–464. Available at: https://www.utsc.utoronto.ca/~kmacd/IDSC10/Readings/research%20design/empowerment.pdf.
- Kabeer, N., 1999b. Resources, Agency, Achievements: Reflections on the Measurement of Women's Empowerment. *Development and Change*, 30(3), pp.435–464. Available at: http://journals1.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/0012155x/v30i0003/435 raar otmowe.xml.

- Kabeer, N., 1994. Reversed realities: Gender hierarchies in development thought, Verso.
- Kabeer, N., 1999c. The Conditions and Consequences of Choice: Reflections on the Measurement of Women's Empowerment, UNRISD. Available at: http://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/%28httpAuxPages%29/31EEF181BEC398A380256B67 http://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/%28httpAuxPages%29/31EEF181BEC398A380256B67 https://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/%28httpAuxPages%29/31EEF181BEC398A380256B67 https://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/%28httpAuxPages%29/31EEF181BEC398A380256B67 https://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/%28httpAuxPages%29/31EEF181BEC398A380256B67 https://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/%28httpAuxPages%29/31EEF181BEC398A380256B67 https://www.unrisd.org/80256B67 <a href="https://www.unrisd.org/80256B6
- Kabeer, N., 1992. *Triple roles, gender roles, social relations: the political sub-text of gender training,* University of Sussex, Institute of Development Studies.
- Kader, G., 2014. *Women Statistics 2012-2013*, Istanbul, Turkey: KADER Genel Merkez. Available at: http://ka-der.org.tr/en-US/Page/Show/640/statistic.html [Accessed September 2, 2015].
- Kalmi, P., 2011. Catching a Wave: The Formation of Co-operatives in Finnish Regions.
- Kapitsa, L.M., 2008. Women's economic empowerment. *Division for the Advancement of Women, United Nations*.
- Karimi, Z., 2013. The Role of Credit in Employment Growth in Co-operative: The Case of Iran. *Iranian Economic Review*, 18(2), pp.131–158. Available at: http://www.policyinnovations.org/ideas/policy_library/data/01221/_res/id=sa_File1/.
- Ketilson, L.H., 2006. Revisiting the Role of Co-operative Values and Principles Do They Act to Include or Exclude?, Saskatchewan, Canada: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan. Available at: http://www.usaskstudies.coop.
- Khanal, D.R., 2013. Social Security / Social Protection in Nepal Situational Analysis, Katmandu, Nepal: International Labour Organization, ILO Country Office for Nepal. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---ilo-kathmandu/documents/publication/wcms_216490.pdf.
- King, S., 2013. Women's Collective Action in the Honey Sector in Ethiopia: Involving Marginalized Women in Collective Action, Oxfam International. Available at: http://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/womens-collective-action-in-the-honey-sector-in-ethiopia-275773.
- Koutsou, S. et al., 2009. Women's Entrepreneurship and Rural Tourism in Greece: Private Enterprises and Co-operatives. *South European Society and Politics*, 14(2), pp.191–209. Available at: <a href="http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/13608746/v14i0002/191_wea_rtigpeac.xml?q=women%27s+co-operatives&search_in=TITLE&date_from=1990&date_to=2015&sort=date&sub=Arts+and+Humanities%3BBusiness%2C+Economy+and+Management%3BLaw%3BSocial+Sciences%3B.
- Kovic, C. & Eber, C., 2003. Overview: Women Organizing for Social Change. In C. Kovic & C. Eber, eds. Women of Chiapas: Making History in Times of Struggle and Hope. New York: Routledge, pp. 193–197.
- Kruse, K., 2014. 449. The Bloom Becomes a Flower. *Stories.coop*. Available at: http://stories.coop/stories/the-bloom-becomes-a-flower/.
- Lodhia, S., Gender Inequality in Decision Making in Co-operatives: A Cross National Study of Asia and Pacific Countries. *Social Science Research Network*, March 31, 2009. Available at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1370967.

- Longwe, S.H., 2002. Spectacles for Seeing Gender in Project Evaluation. *GEM Gender Evaluation Methodology for Internet and ICTs*. Available at: http://www.apcwomen.org/gemkit/en/understanding_gem/longwe.htm.
- Lopez-Claros, A. & Zahidi, S., 2005. Women's empowerment: measuring the global gender gap See more at: http://www.popline.org/node/275538#sthash.eV7ho06t.dpuf, World Economic Forum.
- Luengo, L., 2011. Building gender equality through cooperatives. *CICOPA.COOP*. Available at: http://www.cicopa.coop/Building-gender-equality-through.html.
- Lyer, B., 2016. What Women Want. *LinkedIn*. Available at: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/what-women-want-balu-iyer?trk=hb ntf MEGAPHONE ARTICLE POST.
- Lynd, M., 2000. The International Craft Market: A Double-edged Sword for Guatemalan Maya Women. In K. M. Grimes & B. L. Milgram, eds. *Artisans and Co-operatives: Developing Alternative Trade for the Global Economy*. Tucson, Arizona, USA: University of Arizona Press, pp. 65–84.
- Lämmermann, S., 2010. Time for Action: Responding to Poverty, Social Exclusion and Inequality in Europe and Beyond Financial Exclusion and Access to Credit. *European Social Watch Report 2010*. Available at: http://www.socialwatch.eu/wcm/financial exclusion.html.
- Madan, J., 2010. SEWA: A movement to transform women's lives in India and beyond. *Nourishing the Planet*. Available at: http://blogs.worldwatch.org/nourishingtheplanet/sewa-a-movement-to-transform-women%E2%80%99s-lives-in-india-and-beyond/.
- Magni, A.A.C. & Günther, W.M.R., 2014. Co-operatives of waste pickers as an alternative to social exclusion and its relationship with the homeless population. *Saúde Soc. Sao Paulo*, 23(1), pp.146–156.
- Majedi, H., Andalib, A. & Mosharzadeh, Z., 2015. Identifying Effective Factors of Women's Participation in Urban Development Projects. *Bagh-I-Nazar*, 12(32), pp.3–12. Available at: http://en.journals.sid.ir/ViewPaper.aspx?ID=434929.
- Majurin, E., 2008. Business Group Formation Empowering Women and Men in Developing Communities, Bangkok, Thailand: ILO Subregional Office for East Asia, Bangkok. Available at:

 http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed-emp/---emp_ent/documents/publication/wcms_116164.pdf.
- Majurin, E., 2012. How women fare in East African co-operatives: the case of Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: International Labour Organization. Available at: www.ilo.org coop africa woman eastafrica.pdf [Accessed November 4, 2014].
- Malhotra, A. & Schuler, S.R., 2005. Women's empowerment as a variable in international development. *Measuring empowerment: Cross-disciplinary perspectives*, pp.71–88.
- Malhotra, Schuler & Boender, 2002. *Measuring Women's Empowerment as a Variable in International Development*, World Bank. Available at:

 http://www.google.ca/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CCsQFjAA&url=http%3

 http://www.google.ca/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CCsQFjAA&url=http%3

 <a href="http://www.google.ca/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CCsQFjAA&url=http%3

 <a href="http:/
- Mallin, E.G., 2015. Designing an impact evaluation for a women's agricultural co-operative in rural Mozambique. Masters in Public Health. Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai. Available at:

- http://gateway.proquest.com/openurl?url_ver=Z39.88-2004&res_dat=xri:pqdiss&rft_val_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx:dissertation&rft_dat=xri:pqdiss:1585658.
- MAPA Coopergênero, 2009. *Gender, Co-operatives and Associations*, Brasília: Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Food Supply, Secretariat of Agricultural Development and Co-operatives. Available at: http://www.agricultura.gov.br/arq_editor/file/Cooperativismo%20e%20Associativismo/Gender-Cooperatives-Associations.pdf.
- Maretzki, A.N., 2007. Women's NutriBusiness co-operatives in Kenya: An integrated strategy for sustaining rural livelihoods. *Journal of nutrition education and behavior*, 39(6), pp.327–334.
- Martin, M., 2005. Waste Picker Co-operatives in Developing Countries. In WIEGO/Cornell/SEWA Conference on Membership-Based Organizations of the Poor. Ahmedabad, India: WIEGA, p. 36. Available at: http://wiego.org/publications/waste-picker-co-operatives-developing-countries.
- Matakala, M.M., 2009. *Gender Responsive Budgeting: Four Zambian Government Ministries*. Master of Arts in Gender Studies. University of Zambia.
- Mather, C., 2010. We Are Workers, Too!, WIEGO. Available at: http://www.empowerwomen.org/en/~/documents/2015/02/19/09/53/we-are-workers-too.
- Matsa D. and Miller, A. 2013. 'A female style in corporate leadership? Evidence from quotas. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*. 5(3). Pp. 136–69.
- Matthew, L. et al., 2016. Global Mapping of the Provision of Care through Co-operatives: Survey and Interview Findings. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization, Co-operatives Unit (COOP), Gender Equality and Diversity Branch (GED). Available at:

 http://www.ilo.org/empent/units/co-operatives/WCMS_457286/lang--en/index.htm.
- Mayoux, L., 1995. Alternative vision or utopian fantasy?: Cooperation, empowerment and women's cooperative development in India. *Journal of international development*, 7(2), pp.211–228.
- Mayoux, L., 1992. From idealism to realism: women, feminism and empowerment in Nicaraguan tailoring co- operatives, Development and Change. *Development and Change*, 23(2), pp.91–114.
- Mayoux, L., 1993. Integration is not enough: Gender Inequality and Empowerment in Nicaraguan Agricultural Co-operatives. *Development Policy Review*, 11(1), pp.67–90.
- Mayoux, L., 2003. Women's empowerment and participation in micro-finance: evidence, issues and ways forward. In *Sustainable Learning for Women's Empowerment: Ways Forward in Micro-Finance*. New Delhi.
- Mayoux, L., 2006. Women's Empowerment through Sustainable Micro-Finance: Rethinking "Best Practice." Available at: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.121.2948&rep=rep1&type=pdf.
- McElhinny, B., 1998. Co-operative culture: Reconciling equality and difference in a multicultural women's co-operative. *Ethnos*, 63(3-4), pp.383–412.
- McKillop, D. et al., 2003. Irish Credit Unions: Exploring the Gender Mix. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and NonProfit Organizations*, 14(3), pp.339–358.
- McKinney, L. & Fulkerson, G., 2015. Gender Equality and Climate Justice: A Cross-National Analysis. *Social Justice Research*, pp.1–25. Available at: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11211-015-0241-y#.

- Miller, G.R., 2011. Gender Equality in U.S. Worker Co-operatives. *Grassroots Economic Organizing* (GEO) Newsletter, 2(7). Available at: http://geo.coop/node/615.
- Miller, G., 2012. "Gender Trouble": Investigating Gender and Economic Democracy in Worker Cooperatives in the United States. *Review of Radical Political Economics*, 44(1), pp.8–22. Available at: https://www.umass.edu/economics/sites/default/files/Miller.pdf.
- Mitra, A., Bang, J.T. & Biswas, A., 2015. Gender Equality and Economic Growth: Is it Equality of Opportunity or Equality of Outcomes? *Feminist Economics*, 21(1), pp.110–135. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13545701.2014.930163.
- Moghadam, V.M., 1998. Women work and economic reform in the Middle East and North Africa.
- Moghadam, V.M. & Senftova, L., 2005. Measuring women's empowerment: participation and rights in civil, political, social, economic, and cultural domains. *International Social Science Journal*, 57(184), pp.389–412.
- Mogrovejo, R.., Mora, R. and Vanhuynegem, P., 2012. *El Cooperativismo en America Latina* (Cooperativism in Latin America). La Paz. ILO.
- Momsen, J., 2012. Women and Empowerment in the NAM World: Different Contexts, Different Facts, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia: NAM Institute for the Empowerment of Women (NIEW). Available at: http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=3&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CC8
 <a href="QFjAC&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.niew.gov.my%2Freview%2Fdocs-194-32.pdf&ei=t6mQVfvqPl-nyATu-oOQDQ&usg=AFQjCNFRiuX0ph -44C4go07rN4sw7sJnw&sig2=gvl01apdTGmf8fn4W-zQUg&bvm=bv.96783405,d.aWw."}
- Mshiu, S., 2015. *365. Empowering women through their own SACCOS*, Stories.Coop. Available at: http://stories.coop/stories/empowering-women-through-their-own-saccos/.
- Mudege, N. et al., 2015. Understanding collective action and women's empowerment in potato farmers in Ntcheu and Dedza in Malawi. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 42, pp.91–101.
- Münkner, H.-H., 2012. Co-operation as a Remedy in Times of Crisis. Agricultural Co-operatives in the World. Their Roles for Rural Development and Poverty Reduction, Available at: http://www.euricse.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/1348062673 n2199.pdf.
- Nash, J., 1993a. Introduction: Traditional Arts and Changing Markets in Middle America. In *Crafts in the World Market: The Impact of Global Exchange on Middle American Artisans*. Albany, New York, USA: State University of New York Press, pp. 1–24.
- Nash, J., 1993b. Maya Household Production in the World Market: The Potters of Amatenango del Valle, Chiapas. In J. Nash, ed. *Crafts in the World Market: The Impact of Global Exchange on Middle American Artisans*. Albany, New York, USA: State University of New York Press, pp. 125–154.
- Nedoszytko, L., 2012. 2020 Co-operative Womens' Challenge website launches. *Co-operatives UK Newsroom*. Available at: http://www.uk.coop/newsroom/2020-co-operative-womens-challenge-website-launches.
- Neu, D., Market Discipline and Management Education : A View from a Southern Women's Co-operative. *Journal of Management Education*, 32(6), pp.697–715. Available at: http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/10525629/v32i0006/697 md ame.xml?q=women%27s+co-

- <u>operatives&search_in=TITLE&date_from=1990&date_to=2015&sort=date&sub=Arts+and+Humanitie</u>s%3BBusiness%2C+Economy+and+Management%3BLaw%3BSocial+Sciences%3B.
- Nippierd, A.-B., 1999. Gender Issues in Co-operatives. *Journal of Co-operative Studies*, 32(3), pp.175–181.
- Nippierd, A.-B., 2002. Gender Issues in Co-operatives, Geneva, Switzerland: ILO.
- OECD, 2014. Women in Business 2014: Accelerating Entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa Region, Paris, France: OECD Publishing. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264213944-en.
- OECD, 2014. Gender equality in the three Es in the Asia/Pacific region. In *Society at a Glance:*Asia/Pacific 2014. OECD Publishing, p. 31. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/soc_aag-2014-5-en.
- OECD, 2013a. Barriers to women's financial empowerment and factors affecting gender differences in financial literacy. In *Women and Financial Education: Evidence, Policy Responses and Guidance*. OECD Publishing, p. 14. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264202733-6-en.
- OECD, 2013b. Global approaches for building gender equality, empowerment, capacity and peace. In Development Co-operation Report 2013: Ending Poverty. OECD Publishing. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/dcr-2013-20-en.
- OECD, 2012. Women's economic empowerment. In *Poverty Reduction and Pro-Poor Growth: The Role of Empowerment*. OECD Publishing, p. 30. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264168350-6-en.
- OECD/CAWTAR, 2014a. MENA government tools for gender equality. In *Women in Public Life: Gender, Law and Policy in the Middle East and North Africa*. OECD Publishing. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264224636-7-en.
- OECD/CAWTAR, 2014b. Towards women's empowerment in public life in the MENA region. In *Women in Public Life: Gender, Law and Policy in the Middle East and North Africa*. OECD Publishing, p. 16. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264224636-5-en.
- Okan, N.D. & Okan, C., 2013. Policy Studies on Rural Transition No. 2013-13 An overview of cooperatives in Turkey. Available at: www.fao.org/docrep/018/ar427e/ar427e.pdf.
- Omari, S., 2013. The Marketing of Women's Argan Co-operatives: Challenges and Opportunities. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4(6), pp.112–118.
- Ozdemir, G., 2013. Women's Co-operatives in Turkey. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 81, pp.300–305.
- Papa, M.J. et al., 2000. Organizing for Social Change Through Co-operative Action: The [Dis]Empowering Dimensions of Women's Communication. *Communication Theory*, 10(1), pp.90–123. Available at: http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/10503293/v10i0001/90_ofsctcatdowc.xml.
- Pérez, M.E., 2006. Agenda Oculta de las mujeres Women's Hidden Agenda.
- Peterson, N., 2014. "We Are Daughters of the Sea": Strategies, Gender, and Empowerment in a Mexican Women's Co-operative. *The Journal of Latin American and Caribbean Anthropology*, 19(1), pp.148–167. Available at:

- http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/19354932/v19i0001/148_adotsseiamwc.xml?q=women%27s+co-
- <u>operatives&search_in=TITLE&date_from=1990&date_to=2015&sort=date&sub=Arts+and+Humanities%3BBusiness%2C+Economy+and+Management%3BLaw%3BSocial+Sciences%3B.</u>
- Phelps, H., 2015. 30% Activities in Canada. *PhelpsGroup*. Available at: http://www.phelpsgroup.ca/2015/06/30-club-activities-in-canada/.
- Poggio, B., De Bon, M. and Fedrizzi, S. 2009. *Gli strumenti di conciliazione tra vita privata e lavorativa nella cooperazione Trentina (Tools for balancing private life and work life in Trentino co-operatives)*, Association of Women in Cooperation with Trento Province and the University of Trento. Paper presented by the Federazione Trentina della Cooperazione at the conference: 'Best co-operative practices for balancing work and life' held in Trento. Italy.
- Polat, H., 2014. Co-operative Response to Unemployment in Rural and Urban Turkey. In *Co-operatives' Power of Innovation*. Quebec 2014 International Summit of Co-operatives. Quebec, Canada.
- Pozzobon, D.M., 2011. Three studies on farmer co-operatives: heterogeneity, member participation and democratic decision making. Brazil: Universidade de São Paulo. Available at: http://www.teses.usp.br/teses/disponiveis/12/12139/tde-20092011-155955/.
- Prieto, C.I.R., 2006. Manual de Liderazgo Para Las Mujeres. Available at: http://www.cenecoop.com/docs/md/varios/v 07 man lid muj.pdf.
- Priola, V. et al., 2014. The Sound of Silence. Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Discrimination in "Inclusive Organizations." *British Journal of Management*, 25, pp.488–502.
- Raju, S., 2006. Contextualising gender empowerment at the grassroots: a tale of two policy initiatives. *GeoJournal*, 65(4), pp.287–300. Available at: http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/03432521/v65i0004/287_cgeatgatotpi.xml.
- Ramani, S.V. et al., 2013. Women entrepreneurs in the informal economy: Is formalization the only solution for business sustainability?, Maastricht, The Netherlands: UNU-MERIT and MGSoG.
- Ramnarain, S., 2011. Women's Co-operatives, Gender and "Bottom-up" Peacebuilding in Nepal: A Political Economy Analysis, Amherst, United States: Department of Economics, Thompson Hall, University of Massachusetts. Available at:

 http://coopscanada.coop/assets/firefly/files/files/Annas_PDF/WOMEN_CO-OPS_AND_PEACE_IN_INDIA_AND_NEPAL_2011_CCA.pdf.
- Ramnarain, Smita, 2011. Women's Co-operatives and Peace in India and Nepal: International Research Series.
- Rawlings, B. & Shaw, L., 2016. A continuing challenge: women and leadership in co-operatives. In *Mainstreaming Co-operation: An alternative for the twenty-first century?*. Manchester, England: Manchester University Press, pp. 111–130.
- Rawlings, B. & Shaw, L., 2013. A continuing challenge: women and leadership in co-operatives. In ICA Global Research Conference. Nicosia, Cyprus: ICA.
- Razavi, S. & Miller, C., 1995. From WID to GAD: conceptual shifts in the women and development discourse, United Nations Research Institute for Social Development Geneva.

- Roelants, B. et al., 2014. *Co-operatives and Employment: a Global Report*, CICOPA, COOP International Organisation of Industrial and Service Co-operatives, Desjardins Group. Available at: http://www.cicopa.coop/IMG/pdf/co-operatives and http://www.cicopa.coop/IMG/pdf/co-operatives and employment_a_global_report_en_web_21-10_1pag.pdf.
- Rosenbaum, B., 2000. Of Women, Hope, and Angels: Fair Trade and Artisan Production in a Squatter Settlement in A Guatemala City. In K. M. Grimes & B. L. Milgram, eds. *Artisans and Co-operatives: Developing Alternative Trade for the Global Economy*. Tucson, Arizona, USA: University of Arizona Press, pp. 85–106.
- Rothschild, J., 2009. Workers' Co-operatives and Social Enterprise: A Forgotten Route to Social Equity and Democracy. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 52(7), pp.1023–1041.
- Ruppel, C., 2013. Equalizing Access in the Fair Trade: An Examination of Gender Equity across Nicaraguan Coffee Co-operatives. Senior Comprehensive Project. Los Angeles, California: Occidental College.
- Russell-DuVarney, K., 2013. *Insights to the Consequences of Fair Trade from an All-Female Coffee Cooperative*. Master of Arts. Texas State University.
- Sakai, M., 2010. Growing together in partnership: Women's views of the business practices of an Islamic Savings and Credit Co-operative (Baitul Maal wat Tamwil) in Central Java, Indonesia. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 33(4), pp.412–421. Available at:

 <a href="http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/02775395/v33i0004/412_gtip_wvwticji.xml?q=women%27s+co-operatives&search_in=TITLE&date_from=1990&date_to=2015&sort=date&sub=Arts+and+Humanitie_s%3BBusiness%2C+Economy+and+Management%3BLaw%3BSocial+Sciences%3B.
- Sanyang, S.E. & Huang, W.-C., 2008. Green Co-operatives: A Strategic Approach Developing Women's Entrepreneurship in the Asian and Pacific Region. *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 4(6).
- Sapovadia, V. & Patel, A., 2013. What Works for Workers' Co-operatives? An Empirical Research on Success & Failure of Indian Workers' Co-operatives. *ILO Workshop, Geneva*, 1(1). Available at: http://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/55225/.
- Sen, A., 2004. Rationality and freedom, Harvard University Press.
- Sen, A., 1999. Development as freedom, Oxford University Press.
- Sen, A., 1992. Inequality re-examined. Clarendon, Oxford.
- Sen, A., 1985. Well-being, agency and freedom: the Dewey lectures 1984. *The Journal of Philosophy*, pp.169–221.
- Siby, R., 2013. Social Equity in Public Administration: The Work of the Federation of Southern Cooperatives/Land Assistance Fund. Internship Paper. Georgia, United States: Kennesaw State University.
- Singh, A.S., Venkataramani, D.B. & Ambarkhane, D.D., 2014. Market Linkage for Sustainable Empowerment of Women Entrepreneurs: (A Case Study of Sankalp Women's Industrial Cooperative Promoted by BAIF, Pune). *Journal of Commerce & Management Thought*, 5(4), pp.545–556. Available at: http://search.proguest.com.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/docview/1610256977/fulltextPDF/3F44F39

nttp://searcn.proquest.com.myaccess.iibrary.utoronto.ca/docview/1610256977/fulltextPDF/3F44F390BB6446AAPQ/1?accountid=14771.

- Sí Se Puede! Women's Cooperative, 2013. We Can Do It! We Can Do It Coop. Available at: http://www.wecandoit.coop/.
- Schincariol McMurtry, L. & McMurtry, J., 2015. *Advancing gender equality: The co-operative way*, Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/---emp_ent/---coop/documents/publication/wcms_379095.pdf.
- Smith, K., 2015. Collective empowerment? Producer co-operatives versus women's groups in Kenyan ethical trade. *UNRISD*. Available at: http://www.unrisd.org/UNRISD/website/newsview.nsf/0/7848A7FCA60EF46BC1257E360036EE187 OpenDocument.
- Sobering, K., Thomas, J. & Williams, C.L., 2014. Gender In/equality in Worker-owned Businesses. *Sociology Compass*, 8(11), pp.1242–1255.
- Stephen, L., 2005. Women's Weaving Co-operatives in Oaxaca: An Indigenous Response to Neoliberalism. *Critique of Anthropology*, 25(3), pp.253–278. Available at: <a href="http://journals2.scholarsportal.info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/details/0308275x/v25i0003/253_wwcio.xml?q=women%27s+co-operatives&search_in=TITLE&date_from=1990&date_to=2015&sort=date&sub=Arts+and+Humanities%3BBusiness%2C+Economy+and+Management%3BLaw%3BSocial+Sciences%3B.
- Tesfay, A. & Tadele, H., 2013. The Role of Co-operatives in Promoting Socio-Economic Empowerment of Women: Evidence from Multipurpose Co-operative Societies in South-Eastern Zone of Tigray, Ethiopia. *International Journal of Community Development*, 1(1), pp.1–11. Available at: http://www.empowerwomen.org/en/~/documents/2014/08/26/19/16/the-role-of-co-operatives-in-promoting-socio-economic-empowerment-of--women.
- The Planning Co-operative, 2011. The Planning Co-operative: Equality and Diversity Policy. Available at: http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CB4 QFjAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.plancoop.co.uk%2F1pdfs%2FPCEq%26Div.pdf&ei=KpKQVbDP OMWKyASxhYHYBA&usg=AFQjCNG5dR | ij-pelmAklE5ZODS8Mzg00g&sig2=wzBEaCOoVUIdUGMKsCsXdw&bvm=bv.96783405,d.aWw.
- Theis, L. & Ketilson, L.H., 1994. *Women in Co-operatives*, Saskatchewan, Canada: University of Saskatchewan Printing Services. Available at: Website: http://www.usaskstudies.coop.
- Tice, K.E., 1995a. *Kuna Crafts, Gender, and the Global Economy*, Austin, Texas: University of Texas Press.
- UKaid, GIZ & BMZ, 2012. *Promoting women's financial inclusion A toolkit*, Bonn, Germany: UKAid, GIZ Deutsche Gesellschaft für internationale Zusammenarbeit, BMZ Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development. Available at:

 http://www.fgda.org/dati/ContentManager/files/Documenti_microfinanza/Promoting-women%E2%80%99s-financial-inclusion-a-tollkit.pdf.
- UN Women, *Progress of the World's Women 2015-2016: Transforming Economies, Realizing Rights*, New York, USA: UN Women. Available at: http://progress.unwomen.org/en/2015/pdf/UNW_progressreport.pdf.
- UN Women, 2015. Work. In *The World's Women 2015*. The World's Women. UN Women. Available at: http://unstats.un.org/unsd/gender/chapter4/chapter4.html.

- UN Women, 2015. Facts and Figures: Economic Empowerment. *UN Women*. Available at: http://www.unwomen.org/en/what-we-do/economic-empowerment/facts-and-figures.
- UNDP, 2014. Gender Equality and UNDP, United Nations Development Programme.
- UNDP, Gender in crisis countries, United Nations Development Programme. Available at: http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/results/fast_facts/fast-facts--gender-in-crisis-countries/.
- UNDP, 2007. Gender Mainstreaming: A Key Driver of Development in Environment & Energy, UNDP. Available at:

 http://www.undp.org/content/dam/undp/library/Environment%20and%20Energy/Sustainable%20Energy/Gender_Mainstreaming_Training_Manual_2007.pdf.
- United Nations General Assembly, 2015. *Draft outcome document of the United Nations summit for the adoption of the post-2015 development agenda*, New York, USA: United Nations. Available at: http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/69/L.85&Lang=E.
- USAID/Pwani Project, 2013. Savings and Credit Co-operative Organization (SACCO) Training Manual, Kenya: USAID/Pwani Project. Available at: http://www.crc.uri.edu/download/Financial-Literacy-Training_508.pdf.
- Van Vliet, M., 2006. *Networking Diversity Including Women and Other Under-Represented Groups in Cooperatives*, Saskatchewan, Canada: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan.
- Vandorpe, M., 2013–2014. *Coffee co-operatives and Fairtrade certification: a case study in Burundi.*Masters of Science in Economics. Germany / Burundi: Ghent University.
- Vicari, S., 2014. The co-operative as institution for human development: the case study of Coppalj, a primary co-operative in Brazil. *Journal of International Development*, 26(5), pp.683–700.
- Vicari, S., 2013. *A Report on the Credit Union Movement in Malawi*, Manchester, England: The Cooperative College. Available at: http://coop-web-assets.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/uploads/2013/12/SARA-VICARI-REPORT-5-11-13.pdf.
- Vicari, S. & Borda-Rodriguez, A., 2014. *Building Resilience in the Malawian Co-operative Movement*, Cooperative College. Available at: https://coopseurope.coop/development/sites/default/files/building-resilience-in-malawian-co-operative-movement.pdf.
- Wanyama, F.O., 2014. Co-operatives and the Sustainable Development Goals: A Contribution to the Post-2015 Development Debate A Policy Brief, Brussels, Belgium: International Co-operative Alliance, International Labour Organization. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/documents/publication/wcms_240640.pdf [Accessed July 9, 2014].
- WHO, 2015. Washington Consensus. *World Health Organization*. Available at: http://www.who.int/trade/glossary/story094/en/.
- WIEGO, *Machakos Co-operative Union Ltd. Fact Sheet*, Machakos, Kenya: WIEGO. Available at: www.mdcultd.org.
- WIEGO, 2010. We Are Workers Too! Organizing Home-based Workers in the Global Economy, WIEGO. Available at: http://wiego.org/sites/wiego.org/sites/wiego.org/files/resources/files/Mather_We_Are_Workers_Too.pdf.

- WIEGO et al., 2015. Women Waste Pickers Toolkit, Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing WIEGO, National Movement of Waste Pickers of Recyclable Materials in Brazil MNCR, The Women's Studies Research Centre NEPEM, Nenuca Institute for Sustainable Development INSEA. Available at: http://wiego.org/resources/women-waste-pickers-toolkit-low-resolution.
- Williams, S. & Williams, C., 2012. A woman's place in the co-operative movement? Examining the issue of women's under-representation, Co-operatives UK. Available at: http://library.uniteddiversity.coop/Money and Economics/Co-operatives/A_womans_place_in_the_co-operative_movement.pdf.
- WLP, 2014. WLP Turkey Collaborates With Local Women Coops in Van and Mus. *Women's Learning Partnership for Rights, Development, and Peace*. Available at: http://www.learningpartnership.org/lib/turkey-women-coops-van-mus [Accessed November 4, 2014].
- Woldu, T., Tadesse, F. & Waller, M.-K., 2013. *Women's Participation in Agricultural Co-operatives in Ethiopia*, Ethiopian Development Research Institute.
- World Bank, 2013. *The Little Data Book on Gender 2013*, World Bank. Available at: http://issuu.com/world.bank.publications/docs/9780821398203/1?e=0.
- World Bank, 2006. Gender Equality as Smart Economics: A World Bank Group Gender Action Plan (Fiscal years 2007–10), Washington D.C., United States: World Bank. Available at: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTGENDER/Resources/GAPNov2.pdf.
- World Economic Forum, 2014. *The Global Gender Gap Report 2014*, Geneva, Switzerland: World Economic Forum. Available at: http://www3.weforum.org/docs/GGGR14/GGGR CompleteReport 2014.pdf.
- World Economic Forum, 2013. *The Global Gender Gap Report 2013*, Cologne/Geneva, Switzerland: World Economic Forum. Available at: http://www.weforum.org/issues/global-gender-gap [Accessed April 18, 2014].
- World Farmers' Organisation, 2014. World Farmers' Organisation endorses agricultural co-operatives at UN Headquarters. *World Farmers' Organisation*. Available at: http://www.wfo-oma.com/press/world-farmers-organisation-endorses-agricultural-co-operatives-at-un-headquarters.html.
- Zapata, R.Z., 2006. Peruvian National Plan for equal opportunities between women and men 2006-2010. Available at: http://www.aciamericas.coop/Plan-Nacional-Peruano-de-igualdad.

Appendix A

Practical Publications Index

Resource	Year	Author	Туре	Language	Audience	Goal
Genre et organisation paysanne	1998	ACOPAM - Associatif et Coopératif aux Initiatives de Développement à la Base - Bureau international du Travail	Manuel du formateur	French	Entire technical staff responsible for supporting implementation and consolidation of farmer organisations. To train men and women in farmers' groups.	In completing the manual "Gender and peasant organisation" participants will improve their knowledge and understanding of issues related to approach "Gender and Development" (GAD) and will be able to use tools of gender analysis; will be able to support the establishment and strengthening of farmers' organisations as part of an approach to GAD
Promoting rural women's co- operative businesses in Thailand	2004	FAO & Smita Premchander and V. Prameela in collaboration with Wim Polman	Training Kit	English	Rural women farmers	The training kit on rural women's co- operative enterprises focuses on developing entrepreneurial skills and attitudes among women farmers
GET Ahead for Women in Enterprise Training Package and Resource Kit	2004	ILO Bauer, Finnegan, Haspels, Deelen, Seltik & Majurin	Training Package	English, Chinese, Khmer, Laotian, & Vietnamese	ILO Partner Organisations	Promote enterprise development among women in poverty who want to start or already engaged in a small-scale business
Leadership Training Manual for Women Leaders of Co- operatives	2005	International Labour Office	Training Manual	English	Women-and men-trainers of primary, secondary and tertiary co-operatives who conduct or want to conduct training activities on gender sensitivity and accountability and on leadership capacity building of women in co-operatives	Gender sensitivity and accountability, and leadership capacity building of women in co-operatives
Manual de Liderazgo Para Las Mujeres / Leadership Manual for Women	2006	Concepción Isabel Romero Prieto / CENECOOP R.L.	Training Manual	Spanish	Managers and executives	Understand the impact of construction of gender in formation of stereotypes, which impede integral development of women. Develop the skills necessary for exercising effective leadership. Identify stereotypes based on social construction of gender. Recognise different women, develop guidelines for empowerment of womem. Optimise

Resource	Year	Author	Туре	Language	Audience	Goal
						and strengthen leadership skills of female leadership
Guía para la elaborción de planes de igualdad en las cooperativas de trabajo	2008	COCETA	Guide	Spanish	Co-operative leaders	The guide was developed to help promote gender equality in worker cooperatives
lgualdad y RSE: Guía para las cooperativas	2009	AMECOOP	Guide	Spanish	Women and men in co- operatives; women entrepreneurs with a co- operative business project; and women and men who wish to contribute to implementing the principle of equality in their companies and society	Sensitise co-operatives in the province of Seville offering information, guidelines, and strategies for identifying and resolving conflicts arising from unequal gender relations in the workplace and business environment and highlighting the added value of integration of CSR into doing business
Guía para la implantación de medidas de igualdad en las cooperativas	2009	Elkar Ikertegia S. Coop	Guide	Spanish	Co-operatives	Guide the implementation of measures of gender equality in co-operatives arising from legislative changes. This guide is not only aimed at those co-operatives having few women members and workers and aims to balance the composition of gender but also seeks a deeper analysis of the situation of equality between men and women
Savings and Credit Co- operative Organization (SACCO) Training Manual	2013	USAID/Pwani Project	Training Manual	English	Savings and Credit Co-operative Organization (SACCO) members, board members and the SACCO management team	Financial literacy training for SACCO members, board members and management teams
Resource guide for advanced training of co- operatives on entrepreneurship development of women and gender equality	2015	International Co- operative Alliance ICA	Resource Guide	English	Trainers to train the women and men participants composed of trainers / Education Committee members; middle level managers; and Board of Directors (BOD) of co-operatives in Asia-Pacific Region	Develop a pool of master trainers and implementation of effective strategies to achieve gender equality at all levels especially at leadership positions through capacity building of women and men co-operative leaders and managers. Enhanced awareness of women and men leaders and members of co-operatives and benefits

Resource	Year	Author	Туре	Language	Audience	Goal
						of equal participation of women as human resources in the development of co-operative business; build-up gender sensitive leaders and members and coop institution; build-up the capacity of current and potential women leaders of co-operatives by equipping them with knowledge and skills on: effective and gender responsive co-operative enterprise management; coping with challenges and personal development.
My.COOP - Managing Your Agricultural Co- operative	2012	ILO	Guide with links to online modules	English	Agricultural co-operative members	Focuses more generally on managing an agricultural co-operative, but can be modified to focus on gender and agricultural co-operatives.
Gender Mainstreaming: A Key Driver of Development in Environment & Energy	2007	UNDP	Training Manual	English	UNDP staff and other development practitioners working in energy and environment	Demystify gender mainstreaming for environment and energy practitioners and their colleagues and make the case for gender considerations
We Are Workers Too! Organizing Home-based Workers in the Global Economy	2010	WIEGO Women in Informal Employment Globalizing and Organizing	Manual	English	Anyone involved in helping home-based workers organise for a better future	To be the first stepping-stone towards helping home-based workers organise themselves
Farming as a Family Business Brings Women into the Equation	2010	ACDI/VOCA	Curriculu m	English	Male and female farmers in rural Kenya	Promotes women's participation as agents and beneficiaries of agricultural production
CARE Gender, Equity, and Diversity Training Materials: Module 4: Gender Training	2014	CARE	Training Manual	English	Based on Indian context and primarily for CARE staff	Promote a better understanding of gender within the organisation
Leveraging the Co-operative Advantage for Women's Empowerment	2015	ILO COOP	Three day elective	English	Development practitioners	Demonstrate why co-operatives are often a preferred choice among women who come together to produce and access much needed services (financing, marketing, education,

Resource	Year	Author	Туре	Language	Audience	Goal
and Gender Equality						health). Show how co-operatives, as group-based enterprises, bring the benefits of economies of scale to their members, and enhanced status and voice in the community and society and deliver on Sustainable Development Goals (SDG 5 and 8 among others).
Promoting women's financial inclusion	2012	UKAid, GIZ, BMZ	Toolkit	English	This toolkit is aimed at staff in governments, donor agencies and NGOs, who want information about how to design and implement programmes to enhance the financial inclusion of women. This might be as part of a broader programme of financial inclusion designed for the population as a whole, or as part of a range of activities designed to improve gender equality and the economic life-chances of women. In both cases, knowledge about the different approaches taken by past projects and their impacts and lessons, will be of value. This toolkit uses lessons drawn from past projects on improving financial inclusion, together with more general research literature, to discuss how such programmes can be effectively designed, implemented and monitored.	This toolkit offers a practical guide to developing and monitoring financial services to enhance women's financial inclusion as one tool for the economic empowerment of women.

Appendix B

Action-oriented recommendations table

Recommendations	Key stakeholders*
-----------------	-------------------

y makers	movement and farmers' based organisations	Development organisations	Civil society	Private sector	Research institutions
w legislation rning co- atives to re that they avourable to en.	Medium term: To facilitate strategic planning to support co-operatives, women and stakeholders.	Long term: To support the wide take up of co- operatives by those interested.	Long term: To advocate for appropriate policies and programs.		Medium term: To provide substantive findings on impact of co-operatives in overcoming cultural and structural barriers for women.
ation rning the ion of ulture co- atives to re that they	Medium term: To compile examples of legislation favourable to women farmers forming cooperatives, and make them publicly available.	Short term: To educate women farmers about the co-operative business model.	Short term: To provide coop content in entrepreneurial and business development and training programs.	Long term: To create partnerships with women farmers and women-led co-operatives to take advantage of value-added opportunities.	Medium term: To conduct research into how enabling frameworks impact women, communities, families and the economy.
	practices contact national and local government authorities to raise	Long term: To educate women about their rights as laws evolve.	Short term: To include this recommendation in advocacy work.		Long term: To ensure research into women and co-operatives is disseminated to the government and stakeholders.
t term: To w policies and rams that t co- atives with a er lens.	place gender equality strategies and/or plans of action and begin their implementation. Medium term: To put in place reporting and measurement systems.	Medium term: To provide advice on how to develop gender equality strategies and/or action plans.	Short term: To make available sample gender equality strategies or plans of actions.	Medium term: To share reporting and measurement tools and systems for assessing and evaluation.	Long term: To investigate the impact different strategies and plans have on gender equality and women's empowerment.
t e	term: To y policies and ams that co- tives with a er lens.	plans of action and begin their implementation. Medium term: To put in place reporting and measurement systems.	discriminatory practices contact national and local government authorities to raise awareness of issue. Short term: To put in place gender equality strategies and/or plans of action and begin their implementation. Medium term: To provide advice on how to develop gender equality strategies and/or plans of action and begin their implementation. Medium term: To provide advice on how to develop gender equality strategies and/or action plans.	discriminatory practices contact national and local government authorities to raise awareness of issue. Short term: To put in place gender equality strategies and/or plans of action and begin their implementation. Medium term: To put in place reporting and measurement systems. Medium term: To put in place reporting and measurement systems. educate women about their rights as laws evolve. Include this recommendation in advocacy work. Medium term: To provide advice on how to develop gender equality strategies and/or action plans. Short term: To make available sample gender equality strategies or plans of actions.	discriminatory practices contact national and local government authorities to raise awareness of issue. Short term: To put in place gender equality strategies and/or plans of action and begin their implementation. Medium term: To provide advice on how to develop gender equality strategies and/or implementation. Medium term: To put in place reporting and measurement systems. Medium term: To put in place reporting and measurement systems.

emerging and marginalized co-operatives with financial and technical support.	make available funding and technical support.	identify relevant co- operatives in need of assistance. Medium term: To partner with emerging and marginalized co- operatives to provide women co-operators with financial and technical support. Long term: To pool resources to invest in support for women in emerging and marginalized co- operatives.	create financial and technical programs to support women in emerging and marginalized co-operatives.	create financial and technical programs to support women in emerging and marginalized co-operatives.	partner with co- operatives.	provide best practices based on empirical study of the most appropriate and supportive financial and technical supports for women and co-operatives.
3. To model gender parity and require members to meet co-operative /industry standards through policies and awareness-raising.	Medium term: To enable good gender equality and women's empowerment policies through the passing of legislation.	Medium term: To inform members about gender parity. Long term: To celebrate and participate in global celebrations of equality (e.g. International Women's Day)	Short term: To highlight examples of policies and programs that are empowering for women and promote gender equality.	Short term: To have policies and programs that are empowering for women and promote gender equality.	Short term: To model and replicate good women's empowerment and gender equality policies and programs	Short term: To provide examples of best practices from around the world of co-operatives with excellent women's empowerment and gender equality policies.
4. To assist women in under-valued areas of the consumer co-operative sector to gain more control over production and increased access to economic benefits by supporting women's co-operative integration across supply chains.	Medium term: To partner with consumer co-operatives to boost the integration of women.	Short term: To partner with and develop women's cooperatives. Short term: To support women to develop a coop to expand the valuechain	Short term: To develop programs that help women's co-operatives expand their line of business or business operations.	Short term: To help women's co- operatives gain the business acumen to expand their business.	Medium term: To partner with women's co-operatives to find and secure win/win business opportunities.	Medium term: To research the effect of women's co-operatives and provide profiles.
5. To support the development of women's co-operatives.	Medium term: To create or improve legislation to allow the establishment	Short term: To create space within the co- operative movement for women's voices	Short term: To ensure women's co-operatives can access programs.	Short term: To work with women's co- operatives to supply needed goods and	Short term: To work with women's co- operatives to	Long term: To research women's co- operatives in terms of the impact on the

	and further development of women's co- operatives.	to be heard from the grassroots.	Medium term: To partner with women's co-operatives to provide technical support.	services.	supply needed goods and services.	individual member, families and communities.
Capacity Building		Mariliana tanas Ta				
1. To develop and implement gender equality strategies, tools, and resources more broadly to facilitate the equal participation of women.		Medium term: To dedicate specific human resources staff to developing and implementing gender equality within their businesses. Long term: To partner with external experts to develop tools and resources for co-operatives to use.	Short term: To provide funding and programs to help co-operatives to adapt/adopt and implement gender equality tools and resources.	Short term: To provide expertise where applicable and appropriate on strong gender policies to support the adaptation to co-operatives.	Short term: To provide expertise where applicable and appropriate on strong gender policies to support the adaptation to cooperatives.	Medium term: To research co-operative policies looking specifically at gender equality, to create a scorecard for ranking each policy for gender equality, and to create a scorecard to assess co-operatives' policies for gender equality.
2. To continue to support women's co-operatives including leadership training in governance, management and operations.	Medium term: To offer programs to co-operatives, women's co-operatives and women starting co-operatives that support management, governance and operations.	Medium term: To develop and distribute a training program for women's co-operatives. Long term: To mentor women's co-operatives to provide the necessary capacity building.	Short term: To share best practices of programs that train women regarding leadership, management and operations skills.	Short term: To share best practices of programs that train women regarding leadership, management and operations skills.	Short term: To share best practices of programs that train women regarding leadership, management and operations skills.	Medium term: To research the sharing of best practices of programs for women.
3. To support policies, programmes and active interventions to support women to be in leadership positions in co-operatives and for their voices to be heard within the co-operative.		Short term: To proactively use policies, social media, bylaws, and champions to ensure more women in leadership positions and Board positions. Long term: To	Short term: To provide supports for co-operatives to be able to do this.	Short term: To provide supports for co-operatives to be able to do this.		Short term: To provide best practices.

		commit to model gender parity at the				
4. To track and evaluate the distribution and implementation of training manuals and guides.		top leadership levels. Short term: To put in place future evaluation metrics for their existing resources. Long term: To integrate distribution and implementation tracking into future publications and make those results available in annual reports.	Short term: To provide supports for co-operatives to be able to do this.			Short term: To support effects to track and evaluate implementation of training manuals and guides.
5. To adapt non-co- operative learning materials to make them co-operative specific for the purposes of establishing and running new co-operatives and growing existing co- operatives.		Medium term: The Alliance regional offices can adapt learning materials from their region to be culturally and cooperative specific.	Short term: To provide supports for co-operatives to be able to adapt non-co-operative learning materials.	Short term: To provide supports for co-operatives to be able to adapt non-co-operative learning materials.	Short term: To share learning materials with cooperatives.	
6. To post the results of and feedback on trainings to encourage accessibility and sharing with other cooperatives.		Long term: To undertake this recommendation systemically. Long term: To disseminate such data to its co- operative network.	Short term: To provide supports for co-operatives to be able to do this.	Short term: To provide supports for co-operatives to be able to do this.		
1. To engage in further research directly related to co-operatives and their support for gender equality and women's economic empowerment	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.		Short term: To develop a research strategy including stakeholders' perspectives. Short term: To prioritise research

			1		In	projects.
					M C p tl	Medium term: to conduct research projects according to the strategy and prioritisation.
2. To collect annual, standardised disaggregated data about women and co-operatives around the globe.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Short term: To start to collect gender-based head count data about their cooperative. Medium term: The World Co-operative Monitor to expand its questionnaire to include more gender-specific questions. Long term: To implement gender-based impact questions regarding equality and empowerment.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	a c n M a tl ti b	Short term: To design and implement data collection of this nature. Medium term: To analyse and report on his data to discover rends, patterns, penchmarks and orecasting apportunities.
3. To develop a set of indices, standardised tools, indicators and/or social or economic yardsticks, based on the challenges faced by women in the co-operative sector, to concretely measure the impact in terms of gender equality or women's empowerment.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Short term: To implement the tool and provide feedback.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	in to a e b c c c c c t t g v e e	Short term: To develop a set of endices, standardised ools, indicators and/or social or economic yardsticks, based on the challenges faced by evomen in the coperative sector, to concretely measure the impact in terms of gender equality or expenses.
4. To conduct a study specifically looking at the emerging women's co-	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Medium term: To implement the findings and	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	C	Short term: To conduct a study specifically looking at

operative sector around the world.		recommendations of the study.			the emerging women's co-operative sector around the world.
5. To conduct research that compares co- operatives to co- operatives and to other organisational structures specifically looking at standardised indicators for gender equality and women's empowerment.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Medium Term: To partner with co-operative researchers to conduct this research.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Short term: To fund research of this nature.	Short term: To conduct research that compares co-operatives to co-operatives and to other organisational structures specifically looking at standardised indicators for gender equality and women's empowerment.

^{*}Governments, policy makers (national and local levels)

Co-operative movement and farmers' organisations (national, regional and international)

Development organisations (international, national and local)

Civil society (trade unions, women's organisations, community organisations, etc.)

Research institutions (universities, co-operative colleges, etc.)